UC Davis

UC Davis Previously Published Works

Title

Neuronal connectivity as a convergent target of gene \times environment interactions that confer risk for Autism Spectrum Disorders

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/8kb206n1

Authors

Stamou, Marianna Streifel, Karin M Goines, Paula E <u>et al.</u>

Publication Date 2013-03-01

DOI

10.1016/j.ntt.2012.12.001

 $Peer\ reviewed$

Provided for non-commercial research and education use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.



This article appeared in a journal published by Elsevier. The attached copy is furnished to the author for internal non-commercial research and education use, including for instruction at the authors institution and sharing with colleagues.

Other uses, including reproduction and distribution, or selling or licensing copies, or posting to personal, institutional or third party websites are prohibited.

In most cases authors are permitted to post their version of the article (e.g. in Word or Tex form) to their personal website or institutional repository. Authors requiring further information regarding Elsevier's archiving and manuscript policies are encouraged to visit:

http://www.elsevier.com/authorsrights

Neurotoxicology and Teratology 36 (2013) 3-16

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Neurotoxicology and Teratology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neutera

Review article

Neuronal connectivity as a convergent target of gene \times environment interactions that confer risk for Autism Spectrum Disorders

Marianna Stamou, Karin M. Streifel, Paula E. Goines, Pamela J. Lein*

Department of Molecular Biosciences, University of California at Davis School of Veterinary Medicine, Davis, CA 95616, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 20 August 2012 Received in revised form 12 November 2012 Accepted 17 December 2012 Available online 23 December 2012

Keywords: Autism Spectrum Disorders Gene–environment interactions Neuronal connectivity Organophosphorus pesticides Polyaromatic hydrocarbons Polychlorinated biphenyls

ABSTRACT

Evidence implicates environmental factors in the pathogenesis of Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD). However, the identity of specific environmental chemicals that influence ASD risk, severity or treatment outcome remains elusive. The impact of any given environmental exposure likely varies across a population according to individual genetic substrates, and this increases the difficulty of identifying clear associations between exposure and ASD diagnoses. Heritable genetic vulnerabilities may amplify adverse effects triggered by environmental exposures if genetic and environmental factors converge to dysregulate the same signaling systems at critical times of development. Thus, one strategy for identifying environmental risk factors for ASD is to screen for environmental factors that modulate the same signaling pathways as ASD susceptibility genes. Recent advances in defining the molecular and cellular pathology of ASD point to altered patterns of neuronal connectivity in the developing brain as the neurobiological basis of these disorders. Studies of syndromic ASD and rare highly penetrant mutations or CNVs in ASD suggest that ASD risk genes converge on several major signaling pathways linked to altered neuronal connectivity in the developing brain. This review briefly summarizes the evidence implicating dysfunctional signaling via Ca2+-dependent mechanisms, extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK)/phosphatidylinositol-3-kinases (PI3K) and neuroligin-neurexin-SHANK as convergent molecular mechanisms in ASD, and then discusses examples of environmental chemicals for which there is emerging evidence of their potential to interfere with normal neuronal connectivity via perturbation of these signaling pathways.

© 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

NEUROTOXICOLOG TERATOLOGY

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Neuronal connectivity as a convergent target in ASD
	2.1. Synaptic proteins in ASD.
	2.2. ERK and PI3K pathways in ASD.
	2.3. Intracellular Ca^{2+} in ASD
3.	Environmental chemicals as risk factors for ASD
	3.1. Organophosphorus pesticides (OPs)
	3.2. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)
	3.3. Polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)
4.	Conclusions

E-mail addresses: mstamou@ucdavis.edu (M. Stamou), kstreifel@ucdavis.edu (K.M. Streifel), pegoines@ucdavis.edu (P.E. Goines), pjlein@ucdavis.edu (P.J. Lein).

0892-0362/\$ – see front matter @ 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ntt.2012.12.001

Abbreviations: AChE, acetylcholinesterase; A1254, Aroclor 1254; ASD, Autism Spectrum Disorders; $B(\alpha)P$, benzo (α) pyrene; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; CaMK, $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$ protein kinase; CAPS2, calcium-dependent activator protein for secretion 2; CNV, copy number variation; CDC, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; CNTNAP2, contactin-associated protein-2; CREB, cAMP response element binding protein; CRU, Ca^{2+} release unit; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; fMR1, functional magnetic resonance imaging; FMR1, Fragile X mental retardation 1; GABA, γ -aminobutyric acid; HGF, hepatocyte growth factor; iPSC, induced pluripotent stem cells; MET RTK, MET receptor tyrosine kinase; MR1, magnetic resonance imaging; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; NDL, non-dioxin-like; OPs, organophosphorus pesticides; PAHs, polyaromatic hydrocarbons; PBDEs, polybrominated diphenyl ethers; PCBs, polychlorinated biphenyls; Pl3K, phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase; PON-1, paraoxonase-1; RTK, receptor tyrosine kinase; RYR, ryanodine receptor; SHANK, SH3 and multiple ankyrin repeat domain proteins; Trk, tyrosine kinase receptor.

^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Molecular Biosciences, University of California at Davis School of Veterinary Medicine, One Shields Avenue, 1120 Haring Hall, Davis, CA 95616, United States. Tel.: +1 503 752 1970; fax: +1 503 752 4698.

Conflict of interest statement	
Acknowledgments	
References	

1. Introduction

4

Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) is a group of neurodevelopmental disorders defined by core deficits in social reciprocity and communication, restrictive interests and repetitive behaviors. The severity of core symptoms and co-morbidities (mental retardation, seizures, gastrointestinal symptoms) as well as the response to treatment varies considerably, and this clinical heterogeneity is a hallmark characteristic of these disorders (Geschwind, 2009; Geschwind and Levitt, 2007; Nazeer and Ghaziuddin, 2012). ASD continues to increase at an alarming rate with the most recent statistics released by the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) indicating an incidence of 1.14%, or one in every 88 neurotypical children (CDC, 2008). Considering the sex-bias of ASD, which has a male to female ratio of approximately 4:1, this translates into an even higher incidence (1 in 54) for boys (Baron-Cohen et al., 2011). Recent findings from a study of more than 6 million ASD patients indicate that the prevalence of ASD seems to be increasing linearly from year to year (Keyes et al., 2012). While increased awareness, improved detection and broadening of diagnostic criteria for ASD contribute to the progressive rise in ASD incidence, several studies indicate that there is indeed a true increase in the frequency of this disorder, with factors other than diagnostic drift likely accounting for more than half of new cases (Grether et al., 2009; Hertz-Picciotto and Delwiche, 2009; King and Bearman, 2009).

While ASD is considered to be one of the most heritable complex neurodevelopmental disorders (El-Fishawy and State, 2010; Geschwind, 2011), genes linked to ASD rarely segregate in a simple Mendelian manner (El-Fishawy and State, 2010). Thus, it has been widely posited that multiple genetic etiologies, including rare, private (de novo) single gene mutations that are highly penetrant, interactions between inherited, common functional variants of multiple genes with small to moderate effects on ASD, or copy number variation (CNV), occur independently or in combination to determine ASD risk (Abrahams and Geschwind, 2008; Judson et al., 2011; Levitt and Campbell, 2009; O'Roak and State, 2008; Veenstra-Vanderweele et al., 2004). An alternative but not mutually exclusive hypothesis is that environmental factors interact with genetic susceptibilities to influence ASD risk, clinical phenotype and/or treatment outcome (Herbert, 2010; Pessah and Lein, 2008). Early indications of an environmental contribution to ASD came from observations of a high incidence of autism associated with in utero exposure to valproic acid (Rodier et al., 1997) or congenital rubella (Chess et al., 1978). However, consistent findings from twin studies of incomplete monozygotic concordance (Herbert, 2010) together with the observation that even in genetic syndromes highly associated with ASD, a significant percentage of carriers do not express autistic phenotypes (Levitt and Campbell, 2009), suggest that environmental risk factors for ASD are not limited to these well-defined in utero exposures. In one of the largest twin studies conducted to date, 192 mono- and dizygotic twin pairs were analyzed to quantify the relative contributions of genetic heritability versus the shared environment. The findings from these analyses suggested that 38% of ASD cases are attributable to genetic causes whereas 58% are linked to the shared in utero environment (Hallmayer et al., 2011). While the model used in this study had a number of inherent biases (e.g., it was assumed there were no gene×environment interactions, monozygotic and dizygotic twins were assumed to share the environment to the same extent, and there are questions regarding the validity of the values used for the prevalence for autism and ASD), and these findings have yet to be replicated in an independent study of a different cohort of children, the conclusion from this study that environmental modifiers contribute to ASD risk is certainly consistent with the clinical heterogeneity of ASD. A significant contribution from environmental factors would also provide a plausible explanation for the rapid increase in the incidence of ASD over the past few decades (Hertz-Picciotto and Delwiche, 2009).

How environmental factors might interact with genetic susceptibilities to increase ASD risk remains largely unknown. Answering this question is complicated by the fact that efforts to identify specific environmental risk factors for ASD have produced a number of candidates but few definitive hits (DeSoto, 2009; Herbert, 2010; Kalia, 2008; Landrigan, 2010; Landrigan et al., 2012; Pessah and Lein, 2008; Shelton et al., 2012). If the complexity of heritable factors contributing to autism susceptibility creates a range of sensitivities of the developing brain to the adverse effects of environmental factors (Herbert, 2010; Levitt and Campbell, 2009; Pessah and Lein, 2008), then establishing clear associations between exposure to environmental factors and ASD diagnosis will be challenging. This argues for the critical need to employ "reverse epidemiology" in which experimental models are used to identify relevant gene \times environment interactions and this information is then used to inform and focus subsequent epidemiological studies. We propose that one approach for applying this strategy is to identify environmental factors that modulate the same signaling pathways as ASD susceptibility genes to cause adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes of relevance to ASD (Pessah and Lein, 2008). The rationale behind this approach is that genetic susceptibilities may amplify the adverse effects of environmental exposures if both factors (genes and environment) converge at critical times during neurodevelopment to interfere with the same signaling pathway.

The feasibility of this experimental approach is strengthened by recent advances in defining the molecular and cellular pathology of ASD. Genetic, histological, electrophysiological and functional imaging studies of children and adults with ASD all point to altered patterns of neuronal connectivity in the developing brain as the neurobiological substrate underlying these disorders (Bourgeron, 2009; Geschwind and Levitt, 2007; Judson et al., 2011; Zoghbi and Bear, 2012). Importantly, there is increasing evidence from both human genetics and experimental models that many ASD risk genes converge on several major signaling pathways that play key roles in regulating neuronal connectivity in the developing brain (Bourgeron, 2009: Krey and Dolmetsch, 2007; Levitt and Campbell, 2009; Pardo and Eberhart, 2007; Zoghbi and Bear, 2012). This review will present a brief summary of the evidence implicating dysfunctional Ca²⁺dependent signaling (Krey and Dolmetsch, 2007; Pessah and Lein, 2008), signaling through extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinases (PI3K) (Bourgeron, 2009; Judson et al., 2011; Levitt and Campbell, 2009), and neuroliginneurexin-SH3 and multiple ankyrin repeat domain (SHANK) interactions (Bourgeron, 2009; Sudhof, 2008) in ASD followed by examples of environmental chemicals for which there is emerging evidence of their potential to interfere with normal neuronal connectivity via perturbation of these signaling pathways.

2. Neuronal connectivity as a convergent target in ASD

While the pathogenesis of ASD has yet to be determined, it is clear that altered neuronal connectivity is involved. Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies have demonstrated altered patterns of cortical activation in diagnosed children and adults with ASD during the performance of social and cognitive tasks, as well as abnormal intrinsic functional connectivity (anterior-posterior and/ or interhemispheric connections) [reviewed in Judson et al., 2011; Rudie et al., 2012]. These functional deficits include reduced long-range functional connectivity in the cortex and enhanced local connectivity in multiple brain regions [reviewed in Amaral et al., 2008; Geschwind and Levitt, 2007; Judson et al., 2011]. Diffusion tensor imaging studies (DTI) demonstrate abnormalities in anterior-posterior and interhemispheric white matter tracts [reviewed in Judson et al., 2011; Rudie et al. 2012]. In some cases of ASD, aberrant functional connectivities are postulated to reflect an increased ratio of excitation to inhibition in sensory, mnemonic, social and emotional systems (Rubenstein and Merzenich, 2003). This hypothesis is derived from clinical studies indicating an imbalance of excitatory to inhibitory neurotransmission in brain regions of relevance to ASD (DeVito et al., 2007; Lewine et al., 1999; Page et al., 2006; Wheless et al., 2002), as well as recent research indicating dysfunctional GABA_A receptors in ASD patients (Mendez et al., in press).

Postmortem studies of brain tissue from ASD subjects provide evidence of perturbed neuronal connectivity at the structural level. Brain tissue from adult ASD subjects exhibits ultrastructural characteristics suggestive of local hyperconnectivity and distal underconnectivity in prefrontal regions involved in attention, emotion and executive function. This involves changes in the proportion of small, medium, large and extra-large diameter axons between the anterior cingulate cortex, the orbitofrontal cortex and the lateral prefrontal cortex in ASD subjects compared to matched controls, and reduced myelin thickness in axons below the orbitofrontal cortex (Zikopoulos and Barbas, 2010). Increased spine density in Golgiimpregnated pyramidal neurons of layer II in the frontal, temporal and parietal lobes and layer V of the temporal lobe in ASD patients suggests skewed cortical synaptic activity towards excitation, although functional evidence of excitation is needed to further support this hypothesis (Hutsler and Zhang, 2010). Abnormal spine morphology is also found in the temporal and visual cortices of subjects with Fragile-X, a syndrome with high incidence of ASD (Irwin et al., 2001). Collectively, histological evidence combined with findings from imaging studies strongly indicate impaired neuronal network connectivity as the basis of behavioral and cognitive abnormalities in ASD. The heterogeneous clinical phenotypes that are characteristic of ASD (Geschwind, 2009; Geschwind and Levitt, 2007; Nazeer and Ghaziuddin, 2012) presumably reflect differences in when, how and which brain circuits are affected (Judson et al., 2011).

A number of neurodevelopmental processes ranging from early events of cell proliferation and differentiation to migration and axonal outgrowth to late events involving maturation of the dendritic arbor, synaptogenesis and myelination are critical to setting up mature patterns of neuronal connectivity in all regions of the brain, including those of relevance to ASD. Perturbations of the spatiotemporal patterns or magnitude of any of these events could theoretically interfere with the formation of meaningful networks and give rise to the deficits in functional connectivity associated with ASD (Belmonte and Bourgeron, 2006; Lein et al., 2005). Insight as to which of these neurodevelopmental processes may be preferentially targeted in ASD comes from genetic studies of ASD and neuropathological evidence from syndromic disorders with a high incidence of ASD diagnosis, including Angelman syndrome, Fragile X syndrome, Rett syndrome, Smith Lemli-Opitz syndrome, Timothy syndrome, neurofibromatosis and tuberous sclerosis. Data from these studies suggest that the late stages of neurodevelopment, e.g., dendritic growth, synaptogenesis and myelination, are probably most vulnerable [reviewed in Levitt and Campbell, 2009]. This is consistent with the fact that ASD is typically diagnosed within the first three years of life, a period characterized by extensive formation and refinement of synaptic connections in the human brain (Huttenlocher and Dabholkar, 1997). Research findings from studies of transgenic animal models expressing ASD-associated genes further support the hypothesis that the changes in synaptic connectivity observed in children at risk for ASD arise from perturbations of dendritic growth, synapse formation and synapse stabilization (Bourgeron, 2009; Zoghbi and Bear, 2012). It is these critical later neurodevelopmental events that will be the focus of this review.

Data emerging from studies of syndromic ASD and rare highly penetrant mutations or CNVs in ASD have identified distinct adhesion proteins needed to maintain and modify synapses in response to experience, as well as intracellular signaling pathways that control dendritic arborization and/or synaptogenesis signaling systems that appear to represent convergent molecular mechanisms in ASD. The former includes neuroligins, neurexins, contactin-associated protein-2 (CNTNAP2) and SHANK proteins (Abrahams and Geschwind, 2008; Bourgeron, 2009; O'Roak and State, 2008; Sudhof, 2008); the latter, Ca²⁺-dependent signaling (Krey and Dolmetsch, 2007), as well as ERK and PI3K signaling (Levitt and Campbell, 2009).

2.1. Synaptic proteins in ASD

Rare mutations in genes that encode synaptic proteins, specifically neuroligins 3 and 4 (NLGN3, NLGN4), neurexins 1 and 3 (NRXN1, NRXN3), CNTNAP2 (CNTNAP2) and Shank3 (SHANK3), are overrepresented in ASD compared to neurotypical children (Alarcon et al., 2008; Arking et al., 2008; Bakkaloglu et al., 2008; Durand et al., 2007; Jamain et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2008; Laumonnier et al., 2004; Szatmari et al., 2007; Yan et al., 2005). Neuroligins are expressed in postsynaptic membranes and function as cell adhesion molecules, bridging the synaptic cleft by binding to neurexins expressed on the opposing presynaptic membrane (Sudhof, 2008). CNTNAP2 is a synaptic protein that is homologous to neurexin, and SHANK3 is a scaffolding protein in the postsynaptic density that functions downstream of neuroliginneurexin binding (Bourgeron, 2009). Neuroligin-neurexin-SHANK interactions regulate activity-dependent synaptogenesis and synapse maintenance in the developing brain (Craig and Kang, 2007; Scheiffele et al., 2000). There are five known isoforms of neuroligin, each encoded by a separate gene. These isoforms differentially regulate the formation of excitatory and inhibitory synapses in vitro (Craig and Kang, 2007; Scheiffele et al., 2000). In particular, neuroligin-2 enhances the formation of GABAergic inhibitory synapses whereas neuroligins 1 and 3 favor induction of glutamatergic excitatory synapses (Song et al., 1999; Varoqueaux et al., 2004). Results from in vitro studies demonstrated that neuroligin-neurexin interactions promote synapse formation in hippocampal neurons (Chih et al., 2004; Graf et al., 2004; Scheiffele et al., 2000). Genetic ablation of specific isoforms of neuroligin or neurexin in mice did not cause obvious changes in synapse number in vivo but did impair synaptic function, leading to the hypothesis that the predominant in vivo function of neuroliginneurexin interactions is to regulate synapse stabilization and activitydependent synaptic remodeling (Missler, 2003; Sudhof, 2008; Varoqueaux et al., 2006). The finding that chronic inhibition of NMDA receptors suppresses the synaptogenic activity of neuroligin-1 in vitro further supports the idea that neuroligins contribute to activitydependent modification of synapses (Chubykin et al., 2007). More recently, it has been demonstrated in the Aplysia model that neuroliginneurexin interactions are critically important in learning-related synaptic remodeling in vivo (Choi et al., 2011). Collectively, these observations suggest that neuroligin-neurexin interactions function to stabilize nascent synapses and modulate activity-dependent synaptic plasticity.

Although *NLGN* gene mutations contribute to < 1% of ASD diagnoses, the association supports the hypothesis that synaptic abnormalities contribute to ASD (Bourgeron, 2009; Sudhof, 2008). Functional studies of the *NLGN3* R451C and *NLGN4* D936X mutations identified in ASD subjects reveal defective trafficking and synaptogenic properties of

the mutant proteins (Chih et al., 2004; Comoletti et al., 2004; Khosravani et al., 2005). Primary cultures of hippocampal neurons derived from Nlgn3 R471C (the rat substitution that corresponds to the human R451C missense mutation) exhibit reduced synchrony of spontaneous activity patterns relative to neurons cultured from wildtype rats (Gutierrez et al., 2009). The functional relevance of these phenotypes to ASD is suggested by reports that Nlgn4 knockout mice display reduced social interactions and ultrasonic vocalizations as adults (Jamain et al., 2008), and Nlgn1 overexpressing mice (an alternative paradigm for achieving the imbalance between neuroligin isoforms that presumably results when Nlgn3 and/or Nlgn4 are underrepresented) show significant deficits in memory acquisition consistent with a shift of synaptic balance towards increased excitation and impaired long-term potentiation (Dahlhaus et al., 2010). In mice, expression of ASD-linked Nlgn3 and Nlg4 mutations is associated with abnormal synaptic function, imbalance between excitatory and inhibitory synapses and severe autism-like phenotypes (Ey et al., 2011; Jamain et al., 2008; Tabuchi et al., 2007), and expression of the NLGN3 R451C mutation in the Aplysia motor neuron blocks long-term facilitation (Choi et al., 2011). Mice null for Shank1 exhibit increased anxiety-related behavior (Hung et al., 2008; Silverman et al., 2011) and communication impairments (Wohr et al., 2011). Collectively, these studies suggest that altered expression and/or function of these synaptic adhesion proteins likely contributes to the functional connectivity problems associated with ASD and perhaps also to the imbalance of excitatory to inhibitory neurotransmission thought to exist in a significant percentage of ASD subjects, particularly the 30% of ASD subjects with seizures (Rubenstein and Merzenich, 2003). In support of this hypothesis, recent functional imaging studies of human brain have demonstrated that expression of ASD-linked allelic variants of CNTNAP2 is linked to altered frontal lobar connectivity and white and gray matter reductions in brain areas normally affected in ASD (Dennis et al., 2011; Scott-Van Zeeland et al., 2010; Tan et al., 2010). Thus, a risk allele for autism is associated with significant cerebral morphological variation. Interestingly, this association was observed in individuals that did not exhibit overt symptoms or behavioral abnormalities characteristic of ASD, suggesting that additional factors interact with these genetic susceptibility factors to determine ASD risk.

2.2. ERK and PI3K pathways in ASD

Data from studies of syndromic ASD also identify the ERK and PI3K intracellular signaling pathways as a second set of convergent molecular targets in ASD (Bourgeron, 2009; Levitt and Campbell, 2009). ERK and PI3K signaling link extracellular signals to mTOR activation, and the primary membrane receptors that transduce signals through ERK and PI3K are receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK). ERK (Sweatt, 2004) and PI3K/mTOR (Jaworski et al., 2005; Kumar et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010) signaling pathways mediate transcriptional and translational mechanisms of experience-dependent dendritic remodeling and synapse formation (Li et al., 2010). Disruption of ERK and PI3K signaling either directly or via altered function of the upstream RTK occurs in several syndromic disorders with high penetrance of ASD (Levitt and Campbell, 2009). With respect to the former, mutations in TSC1/TSC2, NF1 or PTEN are associated with syndromic ASD in the context of tuberous sclerosis, neurofibromatosis or macrocephaly (Bourgeron, 2009). The protein products of these genes function as negative effectors of the mTORraptor complex (mTORC); thus, mutations in TSC1/TSC2, NF1 or PTEN activate mTOR signaling. Mice with conditional Pten knockout in the cortex and dentate gyrus exhibit reduced social interactions, increased activity in novel environments, impaired sensorimotor gating coincident with macrocephaly and alterations in spine density and morphology (Kwon et al., 2006). Administration of rapamycin, a specific inhibitor of mTORC1, can reverse aberrant neuronal morphologies and behavioral defects observed in transgenic mice expressing Pten (Zhou et al., 2009) or Tsc1/Tsc2 (Ehninger et al., 2008) mutations and reverse abnormal synaptic functions in adult mouse models of Fragile X (de Vrij et al., 2008; Dolen et al., 2007) or Rett syndrome (Guy et al., 2007).

An example of an RTK implicated in the genetic etiology of ASD is the MET RTK (Judson et al., 2011; Levitt and Campbell, 2009). Three allelic variants of MET, all located in the putative 5' regulatory region have been associated with increased ASD risk, and at least one variant, the functional rs1858830 'C' variant reduces transcriptional efficiency of MET in vitro, consistent with decreased levels of MET protein expression in the temporal neocortex in ASD post-mortem cases [reviewed in Judson et al., 2011]. MET is activated by binding of its endogenous ligand, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), which in turn activates signaling through PI3K, ERK and p38 (Trusolino et al., 2010). In vitro studies demonstrate that MET signaling regulates dendritic outgrowth of neocortical and hippocampal pyramidal neurons and synaptic connectivity between forebrain neurons [reviewed in Judson et al., 2011], but whether MET signaling mediates similar responses in vivo has yet to be determined. However, it has recently been determined that *Met* mRNA is expressed in the right cells during the right time in development to influence synapse formation in the developing mouse forebrain, and that kinase-dead, conditional Met mutant mice exhibit altered dendritic morphology and abnormal dendritic spine morphology in neocortical pyramidal neurons and enhanced local circuitry in restricted layers of the cortex [reviewed in Judson et al., 2011]. Interestingly the neural circuits impacted in the Met mutant mouse are those that are important for processing socially relevant auditory and visual cues in the primate (Judson et al., 2011). Recent structural and functional imaging studies of the human brain reveal that expression of the cMet allele correlates with altered structural and functional connectivity in heterozygotic or homozygotic children and adolescents (Rudie et al., 2012). Interestingly, the MET risk genotype predicted atypical fMRI activation and deactivation patterns to social stimuli in both neurotypic and autistic individuals; however, effects were more pronounced in ASD subjects (Rudie et al., 2012). This is consistent with a multiple hit model for ASD, in which genetic and environmental risk factors interact to determine ASD risk.

2.3. Intracellular Ca^{2+} in ASD

While experimental data demonstrate that both the initial formation of dendrites (Higgins et al., 1997; Lein et al., 1995; Metzger, 2010) and the latter stages of dendritic branching and spine formation can be driven by activity-independent mechanisms (Frotscher et al., 2000; Kossel et al., 1997), a principal determinant of neuronal connectivity in the developing brain is electrophysiological activity. Activity influences the initial architecture of neural systems and is critical for refining neural circuits to form functionally integrated networks (Aamodt and Constantine-Paton, 1999; Cline, 2001; Komuro and Rakic, 1998; Levitt, 2003; Moody and Bosma, 2005). Activity modulates not only structural aspects of neuronal connectivity, such as dendritic branching and spine formation, but also neurochemical aspects of neuronal connectivity, specifically neurotransmitter phenotype (Borodinsky et al., 2004; Spitzer, 2012). The effects of activity on neuronal connectivity are mediated primarily, if not exclusively, by changes in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels (Lohmann and Wong, 2005). A number of candidate risk genes for ASD encode proteins that have a primary role in generating intracellular Ca²⁺ signals or are themselves tightly regulated by local fluctuations in Ca²⁺ concentrations (Krey and Dolmetsch, 2007; Pessah and Lein, 2008). These genes encode Ca²⁺ ion channels, neurotransmitter receptors and Ca²⁺-regulated signaling proteins such as BDNF, CREB, Wnt2, ERK1/2 and PI3K.

Emerging evidence suggests that defective neuronal connectivity associated with ASD is mediated in part by defects in neuronal Ca²⁺ signaling (Lohmann, 2009). One illustration of this derives from recent studies of a gain-of-function missense mutation in the L-type Ca²⁺ channel CaV1.2 that causes Timothy syndrome, which has a

60% rate of co-morbidity with autism (Splawski et al., 2004), making it one of the most penetrant monogenic forms of ASD. Neurons differentiated from induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) derived from Timothy syndrome patients revealed increased Ca²⁺ oscillations at rest and persistent Ca²⁺ signaling upon challenge with a depolarizing stimulus (Pasca et al., 2011). Additionally, neurons expressing the Timothy syndrome mutation exhibited increased neuronal complexity and upregulated expression of genes linked to Ca²⁺-dependent regulation of CREB, including CaMK, which is consistent with studies demonstrating that CaMK signaling through CREB links activity to increased dendritic growth (Wayman et al., 2006). Collectively, these studies suggest a mechanism underlying the increased local connectivity associated with ASD. A second example is provided by recent work with CGG trinucleotide expansion repeats within the 5' noncoding portion of the Fragile X mental retardation 1 (FMR1) gene. CGG-repeat expansions in the premutation range (55-200 CGG repeats) not only give rise to the neurodegenerative disorder, Fragile X-associated tremor/ataxia syndrome (FXTAS) but also increase the risk of developing ASDs early in life (Chonchaiya et al., 2012; Hagerman et al., 2011). FMR1 expansions with >200 CGG repeats give rise to Fragile X syndrome (FXS). Collectively, expansion mutations in FMR1 are the most prevalent single gene disorder contributing ASD risk (Krueger and Bear, 2011; Leehey and Hagerman, 2012). Hippocampal neurons cultured from a FMR1 premutation knockin mouse model exhibited impaired dendritic growth and complexity (Chen et al., 2010) as well as aberrant electrical spiking patterns and synchronized Ca²⁺ oscillatory behaviors (Cao et al., 2012b). Similar to observations of iPSC-derived neurons expressing the Timothy syndrome mutation, iPSC-derived FMR1 premutation neurons also exhibited abnormal Ca²⁺ transients of higher amplitude and increased frequency and a sustained Ca²⁺ elevation after glutamate application relative to neurons expressing the normal FMR1 allele (Liu et al., 2012). Such studies clearly establish these Ca²⁺ signaling molecules as possible convergence points for genetic variants linked to ASD risk.

3. Environmental chemicals as risk factors for ASD

Over the last few years, a range of non-genetic factors have been associated with increased risk for ASD, including pesticides, air pollution, drugs, paternal age and maternal nutritional, medical or metabolic status (Herbert, 2010; Krakowiak et al., 2012; Landrigan et al., 2012; McCanlies et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2011, 2012; Shelton et al., 2012; Volk et al., 2011; Zerbo et al., 2012). In this review, we will focus on environmental chemicals as potential risk factors for ASD, using organophosphorus pesticides (OPs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) as examples. Human exposures to these environmental chemicals are widespread and, with the possible exception of PCBs (but see Section 3.2.), generally have increased from the 1980s to the 2000s. Although their direct involvement in ASD pathophysiology has yet to be proven, there is experimental evidence that these environmental chemicals modulate signaling systems implicated in the pathogenesis of ASD.

3.1. Organophosphorus pesticides (OPs)

OPs are currently the most commonly utilized pesticides in the world (Zaim and Jambulingam, 2007). In the United States, about 73 million pounds of OP pesticides were used in 2001 (70% of all insecticides; Kiely et al., 2004). There is widespread exposure of children to these compounds (Adgate et al., 2001; Barr et al., 2004; Curl et al., 2003; Davis and Ahmed, 1998; Eskenazi et al., 1999; Landrigan et al., 1999; Lu et al., 2001; Whyatt and Barr, 2001), and OP residues are detected in the blood and/or urine of nearly all children sampled in the United States (Barr et al., 2005). OPs are well documented

developmental neurotoxicants. Animal studies show that the developing nervous system is especially sensitive to the neurotoxic effects of OPs (Moser et al., 1998; Moser and Padilla, 1998; Pope et al., 1991). In rats, exposure to OPs during critical stages of brain development can cause persistent behavioral and cognitive deficits in the absence of significant cholinesterase inhibition (Jett et al., 2001; Levin et al., 2001, 2002; Slotkin et al., 2001, 2009). Consistent with these experimental animal studies, a number of epidemiological investigations have reported a positive correlation between chronic exposure to low-level OPs and behavioral and cognitive problems in children (Bouchard et al., 2011; Engel et al., 2007, 2011; Eskenazi et al., 2007; Kofman et al., 2006; Lizardi et al., 2008; Lovasi et al., 2011; Rauh et al., 2006, 2011; Rohlman et al., 2005). While each individual study has limitations, including exposure quantification (limited to no data regarding the type of OP, the timing and duration of exposure) and potential confounding factors (e.g., concomitant exposure to other environmental factors and socioeconomic factors), collectively, results from these studies suggest OP exposure represents a potential threat to the developing human nervous system.

Several of these epidemiological studies have identified a link between OP exposure and outcomes that are relevant to ASD. For example, in a study of a longitudinal birth cohort of primarily Latino farm worker families in California, levels of urinary OP metabolites in mothers and their children were positively associated with increased risk of pervasive developmental disorder at 24 months of age and with attention problems at 5 years of age (Eskenazi et al., 2007; Marks et al., 2010). In a study of low income communities in New York City, prenatal exposure to the OP chlorpyrifos, as measured in umbilical cord plasma, was significantly associated with increased risk of mental delay, attention problems and pervasive developmental disorder in exposed children at 3 years of age, and with deficits in intellectual development at the age of 7 (Rauh et al., 2006, 2011). Additional epidemiological evidence hinting at a link between OP exposures and ASD risk is the reports that ASD susceptibility is influenced by functional polymorphisms in PON1, which encodes the major enzyme involved in OP detoxification, paraoxonase (PON-1) (D'Amelio et al., 2005; Gaita et al., 2010; Pasca et al., 2006). However, PON-1 not only hydrolyzes organophosphate esters but also plays an important role in lipid metabolism (Androutsopoulos et al., 2011), which has been suggested to be altered in ASD (Szatmari et al., 2007). Whether PON1 polymorphisms influence ASD risk via effects on OP detoxification, lipid metabolism or both remains an unanswered question. However, the potential for PON1 polymorphisms to influence OP neurotoxicity is suggested by the Mount Sinai Children's Environmental Health study of a multiethnic population in New York City. In this study, prenatal urinary and blood levels of OP metabolites were negatively associated with cognitive development at 12 and 24 months of age in the Black/Hispanic group, with effects being more pronounced at 12 months in children of mothers who carried the PON1 Q192R polymorphism associated with a slower rate of OP detoxification (Engel et al., 2011). Interestingly, the association between OP metabolite levels and cognitive development was reversed in the White group. The significance of these differences across ethnic groups is difficult to assess since the PON1 polymorphisms were not studied in the White group, and the authors did not consider environmental parameters known to affect PON1 status (Androutsopoulos et al., 2011).

A biological mechanism supporting an association between developmental exposures to OPs and ASD has yet to be described. It seems unlikely that OPs cause ASD *per se* but rather OPs interact with ASD susceptibility genes to drive neurodevelopmental systems over the threshold for ASD expression. Inherent imbalances in synaptic connectivity in children at risk for ASDs (see Section 2) are likely to provide the biological substrate for enhanced susceptibility to environmental triggers that interfere with synaptic connectivity. OPs have been shown to interfere with normal patterns of neuronal connectivity in experimental models. The OP chlorpyrifos decreases axonal but enhances dendritic growth in cultured neurons (Howard et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2008) and disrupts axonal growth in developing zebrafish (Jacobson et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2011). Developmental exposure to chlorpyrifos also alters levels of presynaptic markers of cholinergic neurons, e.g., choline acetyltransferase and hemicholinium-3 binding in rats (Dam et al., 1999; Slotkin et al., 2001), suggesting that OPs interfere with synapse formation in the intact mammalian brain. Consistent with these observations of altered neuronal connectivity in experimental models of OP developmental neurotoxicity, a recent magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) study of children between the ages of 6 and 11 reported a significant association between structural anomalies of cortical surface features and prenatal exposure to the OP chlorpyrifos as quantified in umbilical cord blood (Rauh et al., 2012). The mechanisms by which OPs interfere with neuronal connectivity remain speculative; however, experimental evidence suggests that OPs may modulate the same signaling pathways linked to genetic risk factors for ASD.

One intriguing possibility is that OPs alter normal synaptogenesis by interfering with neuroligin-neurexin interactions. This hypothesis derives from observations that chlorpyrifos and its oxon metabolite inhibit axon outgrowth in primary cultured neurons by interfering with the morphogenic activity of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) independent of effects on the enzyme's hydrolytic activity (Yang et al., 2008). Interestingly, the morphogenic domain of AChE shares striking structural and functional homology with the extracellular domain of neuroligins (Dean and Dresbach, 2006; Graf et al., 2004). Deletion mutation studies show that synaptogenic activities of neuroligin are mediated by specific sequences within its AChE-homologous extracellular domain, which are necessary and sufficient when expressed in HEK293 cells to induce presynaptic differentiation in axons (Scheiffele et al., 2000). Conversely, transfection with neuroligin restores neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells whose expression of AChE is suppressed by antisense treatment (Grifman et al., 1998), confirming functional redundancy. Considered in aggregate, these observations suggest the possibility that OPs interact with the esterase domain of neuroligins to interfere with their synaptogenic activity. If true, then OPs would be predicted to exacerbate ASD-related NLGN mutations, which decrease expression of neuroligin at the cell surface (Sudhof, 2008), by further decreasing the availability of functional neuroligin molecules. This hypothesis has yet to be tested experimentally. An alternative mechanism by which OPs may disrupt neuroligin-neurexin interactions is suggested by a recent microarray study in which repeated postnatal exposure to chlorpyrifos-oxon was reported to significantly decrease the expression of Nlgn2 in the cerebellum of mice (Cole et al., 2011). These results were confirmed by quantitative PCR, and were related to PON1 activity.

OPs have also been shown to alter the expression and/or function of various proteins that influence neuronal connectivity via ERK and PI3K signaling, specifically reelin and neurotrophins. Reelin and neurotrophins have both been implicated in genetic ASD etiologies. Reelin, which is encoded by the RELN gene, is an extracellular protease that activates PI3K signaling via binding to the very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor and the apolipoprotein E receptor 2 (APOE-R2) (Forster et al., 2010). Reelin promotes maturation of dendrites and dendritic spines and modulates synaptic function; these effects are mediated by both its protease activity and signaling through PI3K (Forster et al., 2010; Quattrocchi et al., 2002). Variants of the RELN gene that express ≥ 12 repeats of a polymorphic GGC repeat found in the 5'-UTR of the RELN gene immediately adjacent to the AUG initiator codon blunt RELN gene expression by 25-50% both in vitro (Persico et al., 2006) and in vivo (Lugli et al., 2003). Long GGC repeat variants have been associated with ASD in North American and Slovakian populations (Kelemenova et al., 2010; Persico et al., 2006; Serajee et al., 2006; Skaar et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2002); however, these findings were not replicated in studies conducted in Italy, France, England, Germany or the Chinese Han population (Bonora et al., 2003; Devlin et al., 2004; He et al., 2011; Krebs et al., 2002; Li et al., 2004). The identification of geographic differences between these epidemiological studies suggests the possibility that an environmental factor interacts with the long RELN allelic variants to confer susceptibility to ASD (Pardo and Eberhart, 2007; Persico and Bourgeron, 2006). It has been proposed that OPs may be one such factor (Persico and Bourgeron, 2006). OPs have been shown to decrease Reln mRNA expression in the developing rat forebrain (Betancourt et al., 2006), and OPs potently inhibit the proteolytic activity of reelin (Quattrocchi et al., 2002). Considered in light of data indicating greater household use of OPs in North America compared to Europe during the period corresponding to the infancy and early childhood of the study population (Persico and Bourgeron, 2006), these observations suggest that exposure to OPs during critical periods of neurodevelopment pushes individuals carrying the long RELN allelic variants below a threshold of reelin expression required for the development of normal neuronal connectivity.

Neurotrophins, which include brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and neurotrophin 3 (NT-3), are soluble trophic factors that play a critical role in determining both local and long-range neuronal connectivity (Chapleau et al., 2009; da Silva and Wang, 2011; McAllister, 2000). Developmental exposure to OPs has been shown to decrease expression of BDNF and other neurotrophins in the brain of rodents and chicken (Betancourt et al., 2006; Betancourt et al., 2007; Pomeroy-Black et al., 2007; Slotkin et al., 2008). This effect could theoretically contribute to the reduced long-range connectivity associated with ASD and potentially also to the enhanced local connectivity associated with ASD. Neurotrophins elicit complex responses from central neurons and a single neurotrophin can have opposing effects on dendritic growth (McAllister et al., 1997). In slice cultures of the visual cortex, BDNF stimulates dendritic growth of layer 4 neurons whereas NT-3 inhibits their growth; in contrast, BDNF is inhibitory and NT-3 stimulatory for neurons in layer 6 (McAllister et al., 1997). This effect was observed with endogenous or exogenous neurotrophins and required neural activity (McAllister et al., 1996). BDNF modulates dendritic growth and plasticity by activating PI3K/mTOR signaling downstream of binding to the tyrosine kinase (Trk) receptors, which are members of the RTK family of transmembrane receptors (Gong et al., 2006; Jaworski et al., 2005; Kumar et al., 2005; Takei et al., 2004). This suggests the possibility that OPs interact with ASD susceptibility genes at the level of the PI3K/ mTOR/PTEN signaling pathway. These signaling molecules mediate BDNF effects on neuronal connectivity and as discussed above (Section 2), they have been implicated in several forms of syndromic ASD (Levitt and Campbell, 2009). Decreased neurotrophin expression caused by developmental OP exposure may also push individuals with inherited deficiencies in neurotrophin expression, such as Rett syndrome patients, closer to the threshold for ASD. Rett syndrome, which has a high penetrance of ASD, is associated with mutations in the transcription factor MeCP2 (Amir et al., 1999). Bdnf mRNA expression is regulated by MeCP2 (Chen et al., 2003; Martinowich et al., 2003), and Bdnf transcript expression is diminished in mice nullizygous for Mecp2 (Chang et al., 2006) or expressing Rettassociated Mecp2 mutations (Larimore et al., 2009). Bdnf overexpression prevents dendritic atrophy caused by Rett-associated Mecp2 mutations in hippocampal neurons (Larimore et al., 2009) and rescues MeCP2 null mice from behavioral and electrophysiological deficits (Chang et al., 2006). Bdnf mRNA expression is lower in brain samples from Rett subjects (Abuhatzira et al., 2007); however, protein expression is not changed (Lappalainen et al., 1996; Leblond et al., 2012; Riikonen, 2003; Riikonen and Vanhala, 1999; Vanhala et al., 1998). The relevance of the latter is not clear since it is well established that local translation of Bdnf mRNA in dendrites in response to activity is critical for synaptic plasticity (Chapleau et al., 2009).

OPs may also interact with heritable deficiencies in Ca^{2+} signaling to confer increased ASD risk. Calcium-dependent activator protein for secretion 2 (CAPS2) enhances the release of BDNF and NT-3 from vesicles in parallel fibers in the developing cerebellum and mutations in the gene that encodes CAPS2 has been associated with increased ASD susceptibility (Sadakata and Furuichi, 2009). Mice that are nullizygous for Casp2 exhibit impaired BDNF release and they express autism-like behaviors, including decreased social interaction, hyperactivity in the home cage but decreased exploratory behavior and/or increased anxiety in a novel environment (Sadakata and Furuichi, 2009). While there is considerable debate regarding the validity of animal models of ASD (Halladay et al., 2009), it would be interesting nonetheless to determine whether OP-induced reductions in neurotrophin levels exacerbate these behavioral phenotypes in the *Casp2* null mice. Additional Ca²⁺-regulated proteins that are modulated by OPs include cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) and Wnt. OPs significantly increase phosphorylation of CREB in primary cultures of hippocampal and cortical neurons with EC_{50} values in the femtomolar to picomolar range (Schuh et al., 2002). CREB is a pivotal signaling molecule in transcriptional mechanisms of activity-dependent growth of dendrites, dendritic spine formation and synaptic plasticity (Wayman et al., 2008). Its relevance to ASD is suggested by the report of aberrant CREB activity in neurons differentiated from iPSC of Timothy syndrome patients (Pasca et al., 2011). Wnt is another Ca²⁺-dependent signaling molecule implicated in transcriptional mechanisms of activity-dependent dendritic arborization and synaptogenesis (Salinas and Zou, 2008; Wayman et al., 2006) that has been associated with increased ASD risk (De Ferrari and Moon, 2006; Krey and Dolmetsch, 2007; Okerlund and Cheyette, 2011). Toxicogenomic studies of mice exposed gestationally to chlorpyrifos or diazinon identified significant changes in the expression of the Wnt signaling pathway and these changes occurred independent of AChE inhibition (Moreira et al., 2010; Slotkin et al., 2008).

Collectively, these observations suggest multiple mechanisms by which OPs might interact with ASD risk genes to exacerbate defects in neuronal connectivity. Individuals with heritable deficiencies in neuroligin–neurexin–SHANK signaling, reelin or BDNF signaling through the PI3K/mTOR pathway or Ca²⁺-dependent signaling molecules that link neural activity or experience to changes in neuronal connectivity may be particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of OPs. In addition to testing these hypotheses, it will also be important to determine whether interactions are unique to a given subset of OPs or can be generalized across all OPs, particularly since much of the data currently available regarding the developmental neurotoxicity has focused on chlorpyrifos with significantly fewer data available on other commonly used OPs.

3.2. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)

PCBs are a group of organic compounds classified according to their molecular structure as dioxin-like or non-dioxin-like (NDL). Congeners with >1 ortho-substituted chlorine are typically NDL, while only twelve PCB congeners with <2 ortho-chlorine substituents are dioxin-like in their toxicity (Safe, 1993). Industrial PCB mixtures were used mostly as coolants and lubricants from the 1930s until 1977, when their production was banned in the United States. However, PCBs are still in use in the United States as dielectric fluids in transformers and capacitors. While environmental and human PCB levels dropped significantly between 1970 and 1995, recent studies of temporal trends show no or only a slight decrease in environmental PCB levels since the mid-1990s (Hornbuckle et al., 2006), which is thought to be due to secondary PCB sources. For example, PCBs were heavily used in large metropolitan areas and are now released into the environment from building materials and other sites of PCB use (Jamshidi et al., 2007). Furthermore, PCB contamination is not static. For example, mass flux studies demonstrate that large quantities of PCBs are deposited and volatilized every year from Lake Michigan (Hornbuckle et al., 2006). These studies suggest that there is still considerable risk for human exposures to PCBs, which is corroborated by studies demonstrating the persistence of high residue levels in foods, particularly fish, and in human tissue samples (DeCaprio et al., 2005; Humphrey et al., 2000; Park et al., 2007).

Critical reviews of epidemiological studies have concluded that the weight of evidence indicates a negative association between developmental exposure to environmental PCBs and measures of neuropsychological function in infancy or childhood (Carpenter, 2006; Korrick and Sagiv, 2008; Schantz et al., 2003; Winneke, 2011). Combined in utero and lactational PCB exposure correlates with decreased scores on IQ tests, impaired learning and memory, psychomotor difficulties, and attentional deficits. While discrepancies between studies with respect to the spectrum and persistence of adverse neurobehavioral outcomes, the confound of co-exposures and differences in congener profiles that comprise the exposure raise questions about the causative role of PCBs in human developmental neurotoxicity (Winneke, 2011), experimental findings in animal models confirm that developmental PCB exposure causes deficits in learning and memory (Hany et al., 1999; Sable et al., 2006; Schantz et al., 1989; Widholm et al., 2001; Yang et al., 2009) and sensorimotor functions (Nguon et al., 2005; Powers et al., 2006; Roegge et al., 2004). While it is posited that developmental exposure to PCBs contributes to increased ASD risk (Grandjean and Landrigan, 2006; Landrigan, 2010; Landrigan et al., 2012), there are as yet no epidemiological data to support this hypothesis.

Recent studies of the cellular and molecular mechanisms by which PCBs interfere with neurodevelopment reveal that NDL PCBs modulate Ca²⁺-dependent signaling pathways that are implicated in ASD. $\mathrm{Ca}^{2\,+}$ imaging studies of cultured rat hippocampal neurons (Wayman et al., 2012a) revealed that acute exposure to the NDL congener PCB 95 promotes the same bursting type of Ca²⁺ activity as was reported in neurons expressing gene mutations that confer ASD susceptibility, specifically the gain-of-function missense mutation in the L-type Ca²⁺ channel CaV1.2 that causes Timothy syndrome (Pasca et al., 2011) and the FMR1 premutation (Cao et al., 2012b; Liu et al., 2012) (see Section 2). Consistent with the established role of intracellular Ca^{2+} signaling in activity-dependent dendritic growth (Lohmann and Wong, 2005) and with the morphogenic analyses of neurons expressing either the Timothy syndrome mutation or FMR1 premutation, PCB 95 also triggered increased dendritic complexity in cultured rat hippocampal neurons, and these effects were significantly different from untreated controls at picomolar to nanomolar PCB concentrations (Wayman et al., 2012a, 2012b). PCB 95 effects on dendritic arborization were blocked by pharmacological antagonism or siRNA knockdown of the Ca²⁺/calmodulin kinase-I (CaMKI)-CREB-Wnt signaling pathway (Wayman et al., 2012a), which is the Ca²⁺-dependent signaling pathway previously shown to link activity to dendritic growth in cultured hippocampal neurons (Wayman et al., 2006). Genes encoding these same Ca²⁺-dependent signaling molecules are implicated as ASD susceptibility genes (Krey and Dolmetsch, 2007; Pessah and Lein, 2008), and the proteins encoded by these genes are upregulated in iPSC-derived neurons from Timothy syndrome patients (Pasca et al., 2011) (see Section 2). Thus, this Ca²⁺-dependent signaling pathway represents a potential convergent molecular target for both NDL PCBs and ASD risk genes that interfere with a final common path of activity-dependent dendritic arborization and plasticity.

The human health relevance of this hypothesis is supported by observations that developmental PCB exposure modulates dendritic growth *in vivo*. Gestational and lactational exposure to Aroclor 1254 (A1254) in the maternal diet significantly increased dendritic arborization of pyramidal neurons in the CA1 region of the hippocampus of weanling rats (Wayman et al., 2012b). In a separate study of experience-dependent dendritic growth, gestational and lactational

exposure to Aroclor 1254 promoted dendritic growth in cerebellar Purkinje cells and neocortical pyramidal neurons among untrained animals but attenuated or reversed experience-dependent dendritic growth among Morris water maze-trained littermates (Yang et al., 2009). A1254 is comprised predominantly of NDL PCB congeners (Kostyniak et al., 2005), and consistent with the hypothesis that these congeners are primarily responsible for the effects of A1254 on neuronal connectivity, developmental exposure to PCB 95 in the maternal diet significantly increased dendritic growth of CA1 pyramidal neurons in the hippocampus of untrained weanling rats at the low (0.1–1.0 mg/kg/d in the maternal diet) but not at the highest dose tested (6.0 mg/kg/d in the maternal diet) (Wayman et al., 2012b). Developmental exposures to A1254 and PCB 95 also cause performance deficits in the Morris water maze task in weanling rats (Yang et al., 2009) and alter activity levels and behavior in the radial arm maze in adult rats (Schantz et al., 1997). Perinatal exposure to a mixture of the NDL PCB 47 and the dioxin-like PCB 77 has recently been reported to alter social behaviors in rats (Jolous-Jamshidi et al., 2010). Another example of PCB interference with neuronal connectivity in the developing brain of significant relevance to ASD is the finding that developmental exposure to PCB 95 interferes with the topographic organization of the primary auditory cortex and creates an imbalance between excitation and inhibition in the auditory cortex of weanling rats (Kenet et al., 2007). If similar effects occur in children, it seems plausible that these could contribute to deficits in communication and social interactions that are core to ASD diagnoses and symptomology.

Additional mechanistic studies establish that the effects of NDL PCBs on dendritic arborization and Ca²⁺-dependent signaling pathways that regulate neuronal connectivity are mediated by ryanodine receptor (RyR)-dependent mechanisms. While several mechanisms have been shown to contribute to PCB effects on intracellular Ca²⁺ (Kodavanti, 2005; Mariussen and Fonnum, 2006), the most sensitive is RyR sensitization (Wong et al., 1997a, 1997b; Wong and Pessah, 1996). RyRs are microsomal Ca²⁺ channels that are broadly expressed throughout the mammalian brain and associate with cytosolic, endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-anchored and ER luminal proteins to form local Ca^{2+} release units (CRUs). These CRUs regulate Ca^{2+} release from the ER and modify gating responses and signal gain of plasma membrane ion channels, including the NMDA receptor, thereby determining the amplitude and spatial and temporal fluctuation of intracellular Ca²⁺ during cell activation (Pessah et al., 2010). Nanomolar concentrations of PCB congeners with multiple ortho substituents interact with CRUs to dramatically sensitize their activation by nanomolar Ca²⁺ and attenuate their inhibition by high micromolar to millimolar Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ (Wong et al., 1997a; Wong and Pessah, 1996), thus stabilizing the RyR in its full open conformation (Samso et al., 2009). A stringent structure-activity relationship was identified for this effect with the NDL congener PCB 95 being the most potent and efficacious congener identified to date (Pessah et al., 2010). Blocking RyR activity using either pharmacological approach or siRNA knockdown of RyR prevents PCB 95 enhancement of both synchronized Ca²⁺ oscillations (Wayman et al., 2012a) and dendritic growth (Wayman et al., 2012b), and blocks activation of the CaMK-CREB-Wnt2 signaling pathway (Wayman et al., 2012a).

So, are studies with PCB 95 relevant to human exposures and to ASD? The answer is an unqualified yes. There is increasing evidence that NDL PCBs predominate in environmental samples (Hwang et al., 2006; Kostyniak et al., 2005), human blood (DeCaprio et al., 2005; Stewart et al., 1999) and brain samples from weanling rats developmentally exposed to A1254 (Yang et al., 2009). An intriguing example from human studies is the recent finding that PCB 95, the most active PCB congener in dysregulating ASD-relevant Ca²⁺-dependent signaling pathways (Pessah et al., 2010; Wayman et al., 2012a) is found in significantly higher levels in postmortem brains

of children with a syndromic form of autism, but not idiopathic autism, as compared to neurotypical controls (Mitchell et al., 2012). The samples with detectable PCB 95 levels were almost exclusively those with maternal 15q11–q13 duplication (Dup15q) or deletion in Prader–Willi syndrome. When sorted by birth year, Dup15q samples represented five of six samples with detectable PCB 95 levels and a known genetic cause of ASD born after the 1976 PCB ban. Dup15q was the strongest predictor of PCB 95 exposure across age, gender, or year of birth. Dup15q brain samples had lower levels of repetitive DNA methylation measured by LINE-1 pyrosequencing, but methylation levels were confounded by year of birth. These results suggest a novel paradigm by which specific NDL persistent organic pollutants (POPs) may predispose to genetic CNVs of 15q11–q13.

NDL PCB congeners with the highest activity towards RyRs, including PCB 95, collectively represent 40–50% of total PCBs currently found in environmental and biotic samples, and their net effects are likely to be additive (Pessah et al., 2006). However, even low levels of exposure to these PCB congeners might adversely influence neuronal connectivity in the developing brain of genetically susceptible individuals, such as those with heritable deficiencies in Ca²⁺ signaling. In addition to ASD risk genes that encode molecules that influence the CaMK-CREB-Wnt2 signaling pathway that converges on dendritic arborization (see Section 2), mutations in RYR genes suggest another genetic susceptibility that might amplify the adverse effects of RyR-active PCBs on neuronal connectivity. RYR mutations have been linked to environmentally-triggered disorders in humans including malignant hyperthermia (Gronert et al., 2004), cardiac arrhythmias (Wehrens et al., 2005), and sudden death (Laitinen et al., 2004). Recent studies demonstrate that specific RYR mutations confer sex- and gene dose-dependent susceptibility to pharmacological (halogenated anesthetic) and environmental (heat) stressors that trigger malignant hyperthermia and muscle damage in otherwise asymptomatic individuals (Barrientos et al., 2012; Yuen et al., 2012). Importantly, PCB 95 is significantly more potent and efficacious in disrupting cation regulation of mutant R615C-RYR1 compared to wild type RyR1 (Ta and Pessah, 2007). While a previous single nucleotide polymorphism study concluded that there was no evidence of an association between RYR3 and autism in a Japanese population (Tochigi et al., 2008), a joint association test of results from a genome wide association study identified RyR2 as an ASD candidate gene by using sex as an additional risk factor (Lu and Cantor, 2012).

Considered in aggregate, these observations provide important new clues about the possible role of RyRs in contributing to heritable and environmentally triggered neurodevelopmental deficits, and identify PCBs, and in particular NDL PCBs with high RyR activity, as candidate environmental risk factors in ASD. It also suggests that other non-coplanar POPs that sensitize RyR, such as PBDEs (Kim et al., 2011) and triclosan (Cherednichenko et al., in press), should be evaluated as potential environmental risk factors for ASD by determining whether they, like NDL PCBs, also interfere with late neurodevelopmental processes that define neuronal connectivity.

3.3. Polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are a class of ubiquitous environmental pollutants generated by the incomplete combustion of organic chemicals. Major sources of human exposure to PAHs, such as benzo(α)pyrene (B(α)P), are motor vehicle exhaust, contaminated food and water, tobacco smoke and wood smoke. Research on the toxicity of B(α)P and other PAHs has focused primarily on their role as cancer risk factors. However, several recent epidemiological studies have turned attention to the potential for these environmental chemicals to influence ASD risk.

A prospective cohort study of nonsmoking African-American and Dominican mothers and children in New York City evaluated prenatal exposure to airborne PAHs monitored during pregnancy by personal air sampling and the measurement of DNA adducts specific to $B(\alpha)$ P. Child behavior was assessed using the Child Behavior Checklist. At age 3, prenatal exposure to PAHs was not associated with psychomotor development index or behavioral problems; however, high prenatal exposure to PAHs (upper quartile) was associated with lower mental development index (Perera et al., 2006). At age 6, high prenatal PAH exposure was positively associated with symptoms of Anxious/Depressed and Attention Problems (Perera et al., 2012). A parallel study of Caucasian mothers and children in Krakow, Poland similarly reported a positive association between prenatal exposure to airborne PAHs (as determined by 48 hour personal air monitoring as well as a maternal blood sample and/or cord blood sample) and adverse effects on cognitive behavior in children at 5 years of age (Edwards et al., 2010). A recent study examining the association between traffic-related air pollution and ASD diagnoses identified a positive association between residential proximity to freeways during the third trimester of pregnancy and autism (Volk et al., 2011). This study did not, however, find an association between ASD diagnoses and living near other major roads, suggesting that other confounders not included in the study may have contributed to the association noted in the study participants living near freeways. However, because specific contaminants were not identified in air samples from the residences of study participants, it is possible that the different outcomes reflect the differences in contaminant profiles or burdens between sampling sites. PAHs are a major constituent of motor vehicle exhaust, thus these studies are not inconsistent with the proposal that PAHs contribute to ASD risk.

Rodent studies of perinatal exposure to $B(\alpha)P$ have reported a variety of effects on neuronal connectivity in vitro and in vivo, such as: (1) downregulation of cortical and hippocampal ionotropic glutamate receptor subunit expression and altered cortical electrophysiology (Brown et al., 2007); (2) impaired long-term potentiation in the hippocampus and deficits in behavioral learning (Wormley et al., 2004); and (3) impaired NMDA-mediated somatosensory cortex neuronal activity (McCallister et al., 2008). Emerging evidence suggests that $B(\alpha)P$ may interact with the rs1858830 'C' allele of the RTK MET to amplify ASD risk. As discussed in Section 2, the C-MET allele has been identified as a candidate autism gene and it is associated with decreased expression of MET and altered neuronal connectivity in cortical regions. Mouse pups exposed to $B(\alpha)P$ via oral gavage of dams on embryonic days 14 through 17 resulted in a significant downregulation of both transcriptional and translational products of Met in the cortex during the first two weeks after birth, which corresponds to the time of peak synaptogenesis in the developing mouse brain (Sheng et al., 2010). In addition, prenatal $B(\alpha)P$ exposure reduced the binding of the transcription factor SP1 to DNA targets (Hood et al., 2000). Similarly, the C allele of MET is associated with reduced SP1 binding to DNA consensus sequences (Marshall et al., 2008). These observations suggest the testable hypothesis that $B(\alpha)$ P converges on the MET signaling pathway to amplify the dysregulated neuronal connectivity associated with expression of the C-MET allele. Positive results would suggest MET signaling as a convergent molecular target to develop as a screen for environmental chemicals that interact with genetic susceptibility factors to increase ASD risk.

4. Conclusions

A significant contribution from environmental factors in determining ASD risk is consistent with both the rapid increase in ASD incidence and the clinical heterogeneity that is the hallmark of this neurodevelopmental disorder. However, this phenotypic heterogeneity together with the complex multigenic etiologies of ASD significantly increases the challenge of identifying specific environmental factors that confer increased risk for ASD. We suggest that resources be focused on identifying mechanisms by which environmental factors interact with genetic factors to influence adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes of relevance to ASD in experimental models. Such mechanistic insights can then be used to develop rapid throughput screens for potential environmental risk factors, which in turn will inform and focus epidemiological studies.

While a number of mechanisms have been proposed to explain gene×environment interactions that influence ASD risk (Herbert, 2010), one fundamental way in which heritable genetic vulnerabilities can amplify the adverse effects triggered by environmental exposures is if both factors (genes×environment) converge to dysregulate the same neurotransmitter and/or signaling systems at critical times during development (Pessah and Lein, 2008). Several signaling pathways have emerged from genetic studies as convergent molecular mechanisms or targets in ASD, and data is already accumulating of environmental chemicals that potentially interact with those signaling pathways. These emerging data suggest a biological framework not only for studying mechanisms by which specific environmental and genetic factors interact to influence adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes of relevance to ASD, but also for setting up screening of environmental chemicals to identify potential ASD risk factors. While we have focused on structural components of neuronal connectivity in this review, this biological framework can be readily adapted to studies of other parameters of neuronal connectivity that are regulated by these signaling pathways, e.g., Ca²⁺-dependent regulation of neurotransmitter specification (Borodinsky et al., 2004; Spitzer, 2012).

The success of this strategy is predicated on choosing appropriate model systems. While a number of transgenic animals (mice, and more recently, rats), expressing ASD-linked genetic mutations have been or are being developed, the costs associated with the use of these models limit their utility for early mechanistic and screening approaches (Lein et al., 2005). Such models do, however, serve an important role in confirming putative gene×environment interactions identified in simpler systems. But for initial mechanistic and screening studies, we propose the use of in vitro models (such as primary neuronal cell cultures) or simple systems-based models (such as Caenorhabditis elegans or Danio Rerio) that recapitulate the late stages of neurodevelopment thought to be disrupted in ASD (see Section 2). Ongoing research demonstrates that such models can be adapted for rapid throughput screening across multiple culture wells simultaneously using, for example, high content imaging systems to analyze dendritic morphology and synaptic density (Harrill et al., 2011), microelectrode arrays to measure network activity as a measure of functional connectivity (Johnstone et al., 2010; Robinette et al., 2011), or the FLIPR® to assess spontaneous calcium oscillations (Cao et al., 2012a).

Another consideration is the role of cross-talk between signaling systems that influence neuronal connectivity. For example, Ca²⁺ plays a significant role in both the neuroligin-neurexin-SHANK and the ERK/PI3K molecular pathways. Neuroligins contain an EF-hand metal binding motif and neuroligin-neurexin binding requires the binding of Ca²⁺ to neurexin (Nguyen and Sudhof, 1997). Additionally, Ca²⁺ regulates the activational status of both ERK and PI3K. Ca²⁺ signaling also regulates the expression of the MET RTK (Dai et al., 2012), and changes in the levels of intracellular Ca^{2+} derived from either external or internal sources influence MET activation via tyrosine phosphorylation (Gandino et al., 1990, 1991; Naldini et al., 1991). Furthermore, dendritic growth and branching triggered by binding of HGF to the MET RTK is mediated by Ca²⁺-dependent mechanisms (Tyndall et al., 2007). Conversely, SHANK regulates the synaptic clustering of CaV1.3 L-type calcium channels, and interfering with the binding of SHANK to these ion channels attenuates CaV1.3 channel activation of CREB (Zhang et al., 2005). It is perhaps not surprising that there is significant crosstalk between these molecular pathways,

and thus risk factors that primarily target one molecular pathway may have indirect effects on the other molecular pathways thereby potentially amplifying or attenuating effects on neuronal connectivity. Thus the net outcome of environmental exposures on neuronal connectivity will reflect the balance between these signaling pathways, which are likely to be differentially impacted depending on the type, duration and timing of exposure.

Clearly, work is urgently needed to better predict which combination of defective genes and environmental exposures pose the greatest autism risk. The fact that chemical exposures are more readily controlled than genetic factors to prevent or mitigate the expression of ASD-related traits coupled with the significant toll that ASD places on children with autism and their families, provides a compelling reason to engage in this endeavor.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

Supported by the National Institutes of Health (R01 ES014901, R01 ES017425, P42 ES04699, P01 ES011269), the United States Environmental Protection Agency (R833292 and R829388) and the J.B. Johnson Foundation. M. Stamou received a predoctoral fellowship from the UC Davis Superfund Basic Research Program (NIH grant ES04699); K.M. Streifel, a postdoctoral fellowship from ; and P.E. Goines a Hartwell Foundation Biomedical Research Postdoctoral Fellowship. These funding sources had no involvement in the study design; the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; the writing of the report; or the decision to submit the paper for publication.

References

- Aamodt SM, Constantine-Paton M. The role of neural activity in synaptic development and its implications for adult brain function. Adv Neurol 1999;79:133–44.
- Abrahams BS, Geschwind DH. Advances in autism genetics: on the threshold of a new neurobiology. Nat Rev Genet 2008;9:341–55.
- Abuhatzira L, Makedonski K, Kaufman Y, Razin A, Shemer R. MeCP2 deficiency in the brain decreases BDNF levels by REST/CoREST-mediated repression and increases TRKB production. Epigenetics 2007;2:214–22.
- Adgate JL, Barr DB, Clayton CA, Eberly LE, Freeman NC, Lioy PJ, et al. Measurement of children's exposure to pesticides: analysis of urinary metabolite levels in a probability-based sample. Environ Health Perspect 2001;109:583–90.
- Alarcon M, Abrahams BS, Stone JL, Duvall JA, Perederiy JV, Bomar JM, et al. Linkage, association, and gene-expression analyses identify CNTNAP2 as an autismsusceptibility gene. Am J Hum Genet 2008;82:150–9.
- Amaral DG, Schumann CM, Nordahl CW. Neuroanatomy of autism. Trends Neurosci 2008;31:137–45.
- Amir RE, Van den Veyver IB, Wan M, Tran CQ, Francke U, Zoghbi HY. Rett syndrome is caused by mutations in X-linked MECP2, encoding methyl-CpG-binding protein 2. Nat Genet 1999;23:185–8.
- Androutsopoulos VP, Kanavouras K, Tsatsakis AM. Role of paraoxonase 1 (PON1) in organophosphate metabolism: implications in neurodegenerative diseases. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2011;256:418–24.
- Arking DE, Cutler DJ, Brune CW, Teslovich TM, West K, Ikeda M, et al. A common genetic variant in the neurexin superfamily member CNTNAP2 increases familial risk of autism. Am J Hum Genet 2008;82:160–4.
- Bakkaloglu B, O'Roak BJ, Louvi A, Gupta AR, Abelson JF, Morgan TM, et al. Molecular cytogenetic analysis and resequencing of contactin associated protein-like 2 in autism spectrum disorders. Am J Hum Genet 2008;82:165–73.
- Baron-Cohen S, Lombardo MV, Auyeung B, Ashwin E, Chakrabarti B, Knickmeyer R. Why are autism spectrum conditions more prevalent in males? PLoS Biol 2011;9: e1001081.
- Barr DB, Bravo R, Weerasekera G, Caltabiano LM, Whitehead Jr RD, Olsson AO, et al. Concentrations of dialkyl phosphate metabolites of organophosphorus pesticides in the U.S. population. Environ Health Perspect 2004;112:186–200.
- Barr DB, Allen R, Olsson AO, Bravo R, Caltabiano LM, Montesano A, et al. Concentrations of selective metabolites of organophosphorus pesticides in the United States population. Environ Res 2005;99:314–26.
- Barrientos GC, Feng W, Truong K, Matthaei KI, Yang T, Allen PD, et al. Gene dose influences cellular and calcium channel dysregulation in heterozygous and homozygous T4826I-RYR1 malignant hyperthermia-susceptible muscle. J Biol Chem 2012;287:2863–76.

- Belmonte MK, Bourgeron T. Fragile X syndrome and autism at the intersection of genetic and neural networks. Nat Neurosci 2006;9:1221–5.
- Betancourt AM, Burgess SC, Carr RL. Effect of developmental exposure to chlorpyrifos on the expression of neurotrophin growth factors and cell-specific markers in neonatal rat brain. Toxicol Sci 2006;92:500–6.
- Betancourt AM, Filipov NM, Carr RL. Alteration of neurotrophins in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex of young rats exposed to chlorpyrifos and methyl parathion. Toxicol Sci 2007;100:445–55.
- Bonora E, Beyer KS, Lamb JA, Parr JR, Klauck SM, Benner A, et al. Analysis of reelin as a candidate gene for autism. Mol Psychiatry 2003;8:885–92.
- Borodinsky LN, Root CM, Cronin JA, Sann SB, Gu X, Spitzer NC. Activity-dependent homeostatic specification of transmitter expression in embryonic neurons. Nature 2004;429:523–30.
- Bouchard MF, Chevrier J, Harley KG, Kogut K, Vedar M, Calderon N, et al. Prenatal exposure to organophosphate pesticides and IQ in 7-year-old children. Environ Health Perspect 2011;119:1189–95.
- Bourgeron T. A synaptic trek to autism. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2009;19:231-4.
- Brown LA, Khousbouei H, Goodwin JS, Irvin-Wilson CV, Ramesh A, Sheng L, et al. Down-regulation of early ionotrophic glutamate receptor subunit developmental expression as a mechanism for observed plasticity deficits following gestational exposure to benzo(a)pyrene. Neurotoxicology 2007;28:965–78.
- Cao Z, Hulsizer S, Tassone F, Tang HT, Hagerman RJ, Rogawski MA, et al. Clustered burst firing in FMR1 premutation hippocampal neurons: amelioration with allopregnanolone. Hum Mol Genet 2012a;21:2923–35.
- Cao Z, Hammock BD, McCoy M, Rogawski M, Lein P, Pessah I. Tetramethylenedisulfotetramine alters Ca²⁺ dynamics in cultured hippocampal neurons: mitigation by NMDA blockade and GABAA receptor positive modulation. Toxicol Sci 2012b;130(2):362–72. (Dec).
- Carpenter DO. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs): routes of exposure and effects on human health. Rev Environ Health 2006;21:1-23.
- CDC. In: Baio J, editor. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 14 Sites, United States, 2008.
- Chang Q, Khare G, Dani V, Nelson S, Jaenisch R. The disease progression of Mecp2 mutant mice is affected by the level of BDNF expression. Neuron 2006;49: 341–8.
- Chapleau CA, Larimore JL, Theibert A, Pozzo-Miller L. Modulation of dendritic spine development and plasticity by BDNF and vesicular trafficking: fundamental roles in neurodevelopmental disorders associated with mental retardation and autism. J Neurodevelopmental Disord 2009;1:185–96.
- Chen WG, Chang Q, Lin Y, Meissner A, West AE, Griffith EC, et al. Derepression of BDNF transcription involves calcium-dependent phosphorylation of MeCP2. Science 2003;302:885–9.
- Chen Y, Tassone F, Berman RF, Hagerman PJ, Hagerman RJ, Willemsen R, et al. Murine hippocampal neurons expressing Fmr1 gene premutations show early developmental deficits and late degeneration. Hum Mol Genet 2010;19:196–208. Cherednichenko G, Zhang R, Bannister RA, Timofeyev V, Li N, Fritsch EB, et al. Triclosan
- Cherednichenko G, Zhang R, Bannister RA, Timofeyev V, Li N, Fritsch EB, et al. Triclosan impairs excitation–contraction coupling and Ca²⁺ dynamics in striated muscle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A in press. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211314109.
- Chess S, Fernandez P, Korn S. Behavioral consequences of congenital rubella. J Pediatr 1978;93:699–703.
- Chih B, Afridi SK, Clark L, Scheiffele P. Disorder-associated mutations lead to functional inactivation of neuroligins. Hum Mol Genet 2004;13:1471–7.
- Choi YB, Li HL, Kassabov SR, Jin I, Puthanveettil SV, Karl KA, et al. Neurexin-neuroligin transsynaptic interaction mediates learning-related synaptic remodeling and long-term facilitation in *Aplysia*. Neuron 2011;70:468–81.
- Chonchaiya W, Au J, Schneider A, Hessl D, Harris SW, Laird M, et al. Increased prevalence of seizures in boys who were probands with the FMR1 premutation and co-morbid autism spectrum disorder. Hum Genet 2012;131:581–9.
- Chubykin AA, Atasoy D, Etherton MR, Brose N, Kavalali ET, Gibson JR, et al. Activity-dependent validation of excitatory versus inhibitory synapses by neuroligin-1 versus neuroligin-2. Neuron 2007;54:919–31.
- Cline HT. Dendritic arbor development and synaptogenesis. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2001;11:118–26.
- Cole TB, Beyer RP, Bammler TK, Park SS, Farin FM, Costa LG, et al. Repeated developmental exposure of mice to chlorpyrifos oxon is associated with paraoxonase 1 (PON1)-modulated effects on cerebellar gene expression. Toxicol Sci 2011;123: 155–69.
- Comoletti D, De Jaco A, Jennings LL, Flynn RE, Gaietta G, Tsigelny I, et al. The Arg451Cys-neuroligin-3 mutation associated with autism reveals a defect in protein processing. J Neurosci 2004;24:4889–93.
- Craig AM, Kang Y. Neurexin-neuroligin signaling in synapse development. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2007;17:43–52.
- Curl CL, Fenske RA, Elgethun K. Organophosphorus pesticide exposure of urban and suburban preschool children with organic and conventional diets. Environ Health Perspect 2003;111:377–82.
- da Silva S, Wang F. Retrograde neural circuit specification by target-derived neurotrophins and growth factors. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2011;21:61–7.
- Dahlhaus R, Hines RM, Eadie BD, Kannangara TS, Hines DJ, Brown CE, et al. Overexpression of the cell adhesion protein neuroligin-1 induces learning deficits and impairs synaptic plasticity by altering the ratio of excitation to inhibition in the hippocampus. Hippocampus 2010;20:305–22.
- Dai R, Li J, Fu J, Chen Y, Yu L, Zhao X, et al. Disturbance of Ca²⁺ homeostasis converts pro-Met into non-canonical tyrosine kinase p190MetNC in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress in MHCC97 cells. J Biol Chem 2012;287:14586–97.
- Dam K, Seidler FJ, Slotkin TA. Chlorpyrifos releases norepinephrine from adult and neonatal rat brain synaptosomes. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 1999;118:129–33.

- D'Amelio M, Ricci I, Sacco R, Liu X, D'Agruma L, Muscarella LA, et al. Paraoxonase gene variants are associated with autism in North America, but not in Italy: possible regional specificity in gene-environment interactions. Mol Psychiatry 2005;10: 1006–16.
- Davis DL, Ahmed AK. Exposures from indoor spraying of chlorpyrifos pose greater health risks to children than currently estimated. Environ Health Perspect 1998;106:299–301.
- De Ferrari GV, Moon RT. The ups and downs of Wnt signaling in prevalent neurological disorders. Oncogene 2006;25:7545–53.
- de Vrij FM, Levenga J, van der Linde HC, Koekkoek SK, De Zeeuw CI, Nelson DL, et al. Rescue of behavioral phenotype and neuronal protrusion morphology in Fmr1 KO mice. Neurobiol Dis 2008;31:127–32.
- Dean C, Dresbach T. Neuroligins and neurexins: linking cell adhesion, synapse formation and cognitive function. Trends Neurosci 2006;29:21–9.
- DeCaprio AP, Johnson GW, Tarbell AM, Carpenter DO, Chiarenzelli JR, Morse GS, et al. Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) exposure assessment by multivariate statistical analysis of serum congener profiles in an adult Native American population. Environ Res 2005;98:284–302.
- Dennis EL, Jahanshad N, Rudie JD, Brown JA, Johnson K, McMahon KL, et al. Altered structural brain connectivity in healthy carriers of the autism risk gene, CNTNAP2. Brain Connectivity 2011;1:447–59.
- DeSoto MC. Ockham's Razor and autism: the case for developmental neurotoxins contributing to a disease of neurodevelopment. Neurotoxicology 2009;30: 331-7.
- DeVito TJ, Drost DJ, Neufeld RW, Rajakumar N, Pavlosky W, Williamson P, et al. Evidence for cortical dysfunction in autism: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging study. Biol Psychiatry 2007;61:465–73.
- Devlin B, Bennett P, Dawson G, Figlewicz DA, Grigorenko EL, McMahon W, et al. Alleles of a reelin CGG repeat do not convey liability to autism in a sample from the CPEA network. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 2004;126B:46–50.
- Dolen G, Osterweil E, Rao BS, Smith GB, Auerbach BD, Chattarji S, et al. Correction of fragile X syndrome in mice. Neuron 2007;56:955–62.
- Durand CM, Betancur C, Boeckers TM, Bockmann J, Chaste P, Fauchereau F, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the synaptic scaffolding protein SHANK3 are associated with autism spectrum disorders. Nat Genet 2007;39:25–7.
- Edwards SC, Jedrychowski W, Butscher M, Camann D, Kieltyka A, Mroz E, et al. Prenatal exposure to airborne polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and children's intelligence at 5 years of age in a prospective cohort study in Poland. Environ Health Perspect 2010;118:1326–31.
- Ehninger D, Han S, Shilyansky C, Zhou Y, Li W, Kwiatkowski DJ, et al. Reversal of learning deficits in a Tsc2+/- mouse model of tuberous sclerosis. Nat Med 2008;14: 843-8.
- El-Fishawy P, State MW. The genetics of autism: key issues, recent findings, and clinical implications. Psychiatr Clin North Am 2010;33:83-105.
- Engel SM, Berkowitz GS, Barr DB, Teitelbaum SL, Siskind J, Meisel SJ, et al. Prenatal organophosphate metabolite and organochlorine levels and performance on the Brazelton Neonatal Behavioral Assessment Scale in a multiethnic pregnancy cohort. Am J Epidemiol 2007;165:1397–404.
- Engel SM, Wetmur J, Chen J, Zhu C, Barr DB, Canfield RL, et al. Prenatal exposure to organophosphates, paraoxonase 1, and cognitive development in childhood. Environ Health Perspect 2011;119:1182–8.
- Eskenazi B, Bradman A, Castorina R. Exposures of children to organophosphate pesticides and their potential adverse health effects. Environ Health Perspect 1999;107(Suppl. 3):409–19.
- Eskenazi B, Marks AR, Bradman A, Harley K, Barr DB, Johnson C, et al. Organophosphate pesticide exposure and neurodevelopment in young Mexican-American children. Environ Health Perspect 2007;115:792–8.
- Ey E, Leblond CS, Bourgeron T. Behavioral profiles of mouse models for autism spectrum disorders. Autism Res 2011;4:5-16.
- Forster E, Bock HH, Herz J, Chai X, Frotscher M, Zhao S. Emerging topics in Reelin function. Eur J Neurosci 2010;31:1511–8.
- Frotscher M, Drakew A, Heimrich B. Role of afferent innervation and neuronal activity in dendritic development and spine maturation of fascia dentata granule cells. Cereb Cortex 2000;10:946–51.
- Gaita L, Manzi B, Sacco R, Lintas C, Altieri L, Lombardi F, et al. Decreased serum arylesterase activity in autism spectrum disorders. Psychiatry Res 2010;180: 105–13.
- Gandino L, Di Renzo MF, Giordano S, Bussolino F, Comoglio PM. Protein kinase-c activation inhibits tyrosine phosphorylation of the c-met protein. Oncogene 1990;5: 721–5.
- Gandino L, Munaron L, Naldini L, Ferracini R, Magni M, Comoglio PM. Intracellular calcium regulates the tyrosine kinase receptor encoded by the MET oncogene. J Biol Chem 1991;266:16098–104.
- Geschwind DH. Advances in autism. Annu Rev Med 2009;60:367–80.
- Geschwind DH. Genetics of autism spectrum disorders. Trends Cogn Sci 2011;15: 409–16. Geschwind DH, Levitt P. Autism spectrum disorders: developmental disconnection
- syndromes. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2007;17:103–11. Gong R, Park CS, Abbassi NR, Tang SJ. Roles of glutamate receptors and the mammalian
- Gong K, Park CS, Abbassi NK, Tang SJ, Koles of glutaniate receptors and the manimulatin target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway in activity-dependent dendritic protein synthesis in hippocampal neurons. J Biol Chem 2006;281:18802–15.
- Graf ER, Zhang X, Jin SX, Linhoff MW, Craig AM. Neurexins induce differentiation of GABA and glutamate postsynaptic specializations via neuroligins. Cell 2004;119: 1013–26.
- Grandjean P, Landrigan PJ. Developmental neurotoxicity of industrial chemicals. Lancet 2006;368:2167–78.

- Grether JK, Rosen NJ, Smith KS, Croen LA. Investigation of shifts in autism reporting in the California Department of Developmental Services. J Autism Dev Disord 2009;39:1412–9.
- Grifman M, Galyam N, Seidman S, Soreq H. Functional redundancy of acetylcholinesterase and neuroligin in mammalian neuritogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95: 13935–40.
- Gronert GA, Pessah IN, Muldoon SM, Tautz TJ. Malignant hyperthermia. In: Miller R, editor. Anesthesia. Philadelphia, PA: Churchill Livingstone; 2004.
- Gutierrez RC, Hung J, Zhang Y, Kertesz AC, Espina FJ, Colicos MA. Altered synchrony and connectivity in neuronal networks expressing an autism-related mutation of neuroligin 3. Neuroscience 2009;162:208–21.
- Guy J, Gan J, Selfridge J, Cobb S, Bird A. Reversal of neurological defects in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. Science 2007;315:1143–7.
 Hagerman R, Au J, Hagerman P. FMR1 premutation and full mutation molecular mech-
- Hagerman R, Au J, Hagerman P. FMR1 premutation and full mutation molecular mechanisms related to autism. J Neurodev Disord 2011;3:211–24.
- Halladay AK, Amaral D, Aschner M, Bolivar VJ, Bowman A, DiCicco-Bloom E, et al. Animal models of autism spectrum disorders: information for neurotoxicologists. Neurotoxicology 2009;30:811–21.
- Hallmayer J, Cleveland S, Torres A, Phillips J, Cohen B, Torigoe T, et al. Genetic heritability and shared environmental factors among twin pairs with autism. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2011;68:1095–102.
- Hany J, Lilienthal H, Sarasin A, Roth-Harer A, Fastabend A, Dunemann L, et al. Developmental exposure of rats to a reconstituted PCB mixture or Aroclor 1254: effects on organ weights, aromatase activity, sex hormone levels, and sweet preference behavior. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1999;158:231–43.
- Harrill JA, Robinette BL, Mundy WR. Use of high content image analysis to detect chemical-induced changes in synaptogenesis in vitro. Toxicol In Vitro 2011;25: 368–87.
- He Y, Xun G, Xia K, Hu Z, Lv L, Deng Z, et al. No significant association between RELN polymorphism and autism in case–control and family-based association study in Chinese Han population. Psychiatry Res 2011;187:462–4.
- Herbert MR. Contributions of the environment and environmentally vulnerable physiology to autism spectrum disorders. Curr Opin Neurol 2010;23:103–10.
- Hertz-Picciotto I, Delwiche L. The rise in autism and the role of age at diagnosis. Epidemiology 2009;20:84–90.
- Higgins D, Burack M, Lein P, Banker G. Mechanisms of neuronal polarity. Curr Opin Neurobiol 1997;7:599–604.
- Hood DB, Nayyar T, Ramesh A, Greenwood M, Inyang F. Modulation in the developmental expression profile of Sp1 subsequent to transplacental exposure of fetal rats to desorbed benzo[a]pyrene following maternal inhalation. Inhal Toxicol 2000;12:511–35.
- Hornbuckle KC, Carlson DL, Swackhamer DL, Baker JE, Eisenreich SJ. Polychlorinated biphenyls in the Great Lakes. In: Hites RA, editor. The handbook of environmental chemistry: persistent organic pollutants in the Great Lakes. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 2006. p. 13–70.
- Howard AS, Bucelli R, Jett DA, Bruun D, Yang D, Lein PJ. Chlorpyrifos exerts opposing effects on axonal and dendritic growth in primary neuronal cultures. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2005;207:112–24.
- Humphrey HE, Gardiner JC, Pandya JR, Sweeney AM, Gasior DM, McCaffrey RJ, et al. PCB congener profile in the serum of humans consuming Great Lakes fish. Environ Health Perspect 2000;108:167–72.
- Hung AY, Futai K, Sala C, Valtschanoff JG, Ryu J, Woodworth MA, et al. Smaller dendritic spines, weaker synaptic transmission, but enhanced spatial learning in mice lacking Shank1. J Neurosci 2008;28:1697–708.
- Hutsler JJ, Zhang H. Increased dendritic spine densities on cortical projection neurons in autism spectrum disorders. Brain Res 2010;1309:83–94.
- Huttenlocher PR, Dabholkar AS. Regional differences in synaptogenesis in human cerebral cortex. J Comp Neurol 1997;387:167–78.
- Hwang HM, Green PG, Young TM. Tidal salt marsh sediment in California, USA. Part 1: occurrence and sources of organic contaminants. Chemosphere 2006;64:1383–92.
- Irwin SA, Patel B, Idupulapati M, Harris JB, Crisostomo RA, Larsen BP, et al. Abnormal dendritic spine characteristics in the temporal and visual cortices of patients with fragile-X syndrome: a quantitative examination. Am J Med Genet 2001;98: 161–7.
- Jacobson SM, Birkholz DA, McNamara ML, Bharate SB, George KM. Subacute developmental exposure of zebrafish to the organophosphate pesticide metabolite, chlorpyrifos-oxon, results in defects in Rohon–Beard sensory neuron development. Aquat Toxicol 2010;100:101–11.
- Jamain S, Quach H, Betancur C, Rastam M, Colineaux C, Gillberg IC, et al. Mutations of the X-linked genes encoding neuroligins NLGN3 and NLGN4 are associated with autism. Nat Genet 2003;34:27–9.
- Jamain S, Radyushkin K, Hammerschmidt K, Granon S, Boretius S, Varoqueaux F, et al. Reduced social interaction and ultrasonic communication in a mouse model of monogenic heritable autism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:1710–5.
- Jamshidi A, Hunter S, Hazrati S, Harrad S. Concentrations and chiral signatures of polychlorinated biphenyls in outdoor and indoor air and soil in a major U.K. conurbation. Environ Sci Technol 2007;41:2153–8.
- Jaworski J, Spangler S, Seeburg DP, Hoogenraad CC, Sheng M. Control of dendritic arborization by the phosphoinositide-3'-kinase-Akt-mammalian target of rapamycin pathway. J Neurosci 2005;25:11300–12.
- Jett DA, Navoa RV, Beckles RA, McLemore GL. Cognitive function and cholinergic neurochemistry in weanling rats exposed to chlorpyrifos. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2001;174:89–98.
- Johnstone AF, Gross GW, Weiss DG, Schroeder OH, Gramowski A, Shafer TJ. Microelectrode arrays: a physiologically based neurotoxicity testing platform for the 21st century. Neurotoxicology 2010;31:331–50.

Author's personal copy

- Jolous-Jamshidi B, Cromwell HC, McFarland AM, Meserve LA. Perinatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls alters social behaviors in rats. Toxicol Lett 2010;199: 136-43.
- Judson MC, Eagleson KL, Levitt P. A new synaptic player leading to autism risk: Met receptor tyrosine kinase. J Neurodevelopmental Disord 2011;3:282-92.
- Kalia M. Brain development: anatomy, connectivity, adaptive plasticity, and toxicity. Metabolism 2008;57(Suppl. 2):S2-5.
- Kelemenova S, Schmidtova E, Ficek A, Celec P, Kubranska A, Ostatnikova D. Polymorphisms of candidate genes in Slovak autistic patients. Psychiatr Genet 2010;20:137-9.
- Kenet T, Froemke RC, Schreiner CE, Pessah IN, Merzenich MM. Perinatal exposure to a noncoplanar polychlorinated biphenyl alters tonotopy, receptive fields, and plasticity in rat primary auditory cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:7646-51.
- Keyes KM, Susser E, Cheslack-Postava K, Fountain C, Liu K, Bearman PS. Cohort effects explain the increase in autism diagnosis among children born from 1992 to 2003 in California. Int | Epidemiol 2012;41:495–503.
- Khosravani H, Altier C, Zamponi GW, Colicos MA. The Arg473Cys-neuroligin-1 mutation modulates NMDA mediated synaptic transmission and receptor distribution in hippocampal neurons. FEBS Lett 2005;579:6587-94.
- Kiely T, Donaldson D, Grube A. Pesticides industry sales and usage: 2000 and 2001 market estimates. Washington DC: US EPA; 2004. Kim HG, Kishikawa S, Higgins AW, Seong IS, Donovan DJ, Shen Y, et al. Disruption of
- neurexin 1 associated with autism spectrum disorder. Am J Hum Genet 2008;82: 199-207.
- Kim KH, Bose DD, Ghogha A, Riehl J, Zhang R, Barnhart CD, et al. Para- and ortho-substitutions are key determinants of polybrominated diphenyl ether activity toward ryanodine receptors and neurotoxicity. Environ Health Perspect 2011:119:519-26.
- King M, Bearman P. Diagnostic change and the increased prevalence of autism. Int J Epidemiol 2009;38:1224-34.
- Kodavanti PRS. Neurotoxicity of persistent organic pollutants: possible mode(s) of action and further considerations. Dose Response 2005;3:273-305.
- Kofman O, Berger A, Massarwa A, Friedman A, Jaffar AA. Motor inhibition and learning impairments in school-aged children following exposure to organophosphate pesticides in infancy. Pediatr Res 2006;60:88-92.
- Komuro H, Rakic P. Orchestration of neuronal migration by activity of ion channels, neurotransmitter receptors, and intracellular Ca2+ fluctuations. J Neurobiol 1998;37:110-30.
- Korrick SA, Sagiv SK. Polychlorinated biphenyls, organochlorine pesticides and neurodevelopment. Curr Opin Pediatr 2008;20:198-204.
- Kossel AH, Williams CV, Schweizer M, Kater SB. Afferent innervation influences the development of dendritic branches and spines via both activity-dependent and non-activity-dependent mechanisms. J Neurosci 1997;17:6314-24.
- Kostyniak PJ, Hansen LG, Widholm JJ, Fitzpatrick RD, Olson JR, Helferich JL, et al. Formulation and characterization of an experimental PCB mixture designed to mimic human exposure from contaminated fish. Toxicol Sci 2005;88:400–11. Krakowiak P, Walker CK, Bremer AA, Baker AS, Ozonoff S, Hansen RL, et al. Maternal
- metabolic conditions and risk for autism and other neurodevelopmental disorders. Pediatrics 2012;129:e1121-8.
- Krebs MO, Betancur C, Leroy S, Bourdel MC, Gillberg C, Leboyer M. Absence of association between a polymorphic GGC repeat in the 5' untranslated region of the reelin gene and autism. Mol Psychiatry 2002;7:801-4.
- Krev IF. Dolmetsch RE. Molecular mechanisms of autism: a possible role for Ca^{2+} signaling. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2007;17:112–9.
- Krueger DD, Bear MF. Toward fulfilling the promise of molecular medicine in fragile X syndrome. Annu Rev Med 2011;62:411-29.
- Kumar V, Zhang MX, Swank MW, Kunz J, Wu GY. Regulation of dendritic morphogenesis by Ras-PI3K-Akt-mTOR and Ras-MAPK signaling pathways. J Neurosci 2005.25.11288-99
- Kwon CH, Luikart BW, Powell CM, Zhou J, Matheny SA, Zhang W, et al. Pten regulates neuronal arborization and social interaction in mice. Neuron 2006;50:377-88.
- Laitinen PJ, Swan H, Piippo K, Viitasalo M, Toivonen L, Kontula K. Genes, exercise and sudden death: molecular basis of familial catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia. Ann Med 2004;36(Suppl. 1):81-6.
- Landrigan PJ. What causes autism? Exploring the environmental contribution. Curr Opin Pediatr 2010:22:219-25.
- Landrigan PJ, Claudio L, Markowitz SB, Berkowitz GS, Brenner BL, Romero H, et al. Pesticides and inner-city children: exposures, risks, and prevention. Environ Health Perspect 1999;107(Suppl. 3):431-7.
- Landrigan PJ, Lambertini L, Birnbaum LS. A research strategy to discover the environmental causes of autism and neurodevelopmental disabilities. Environ Health Perspect 2012:120:a258-60.
- Lappalainen R, Lindholm D, Riikonen R. Low levels of nerve growth factor in cerebrospinal fluid of children with Rett syndrome. J Child Neurol 1996;11:296-300.
- Larimore JL, Chapleau CA, Kudo S, Theibert A, Percy AK, Pozzo-Miller L. Bdnf overexpression in hippocampal neurons prevents dendritic atrophy caused by Rett-associated MECP2 mutations. Neurobiol Dis 2009;34:199-211.
- Laumonnier F, Bonnet-Brilhault F, Gomot M, Blanc R, David A, Moizard MP, et al. X-linked mental retardation and autism are associated with a mutation in the NLGN4 gene, a member of the neuroligin family. Am J Hum Genet 2004;74:552-7.
- Leblond CS, Heinrich J, Delorme R, Proepper C, Betancur Č, Huguet G, et al. Genetic and functional analyses of SHANK2 mutations suggest a multiple hit model of autism spectrum disorders. PLoS Genet 2012;8:e1002521.
- Leehey MA, Hagerman PJ. Fragile X-associated tremor/ataxia syndrome. Handb Clin Neurol 2012;103:373-86.
- Lein P, Johnson M, Guo X, Rueger D, Higgins D. Osteogenic protein-1 induces dendritic growth in rat sympathetic neurons. Neuron 1995;15:597-605.

- Lein P, Silbergeld E, Locke P, Goldberg AM. In vitro and other alternative approaches to developmental neurotoxicity testing (DNT). Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 2005;19: 735-44.
- Levin ED, Addy N, Nakajima A, Christopher NC, Seidler FJ, Slotkin TA. Persistent behavioral consequences of neonatal chlorpyrifos exposure in rats. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 2001:130:83-9.
- Levin ED, Addy N, Baruah A, Elias A, Christopher NC, Seidler FJ, et al. Prenatal chlorpyrifos exposure in rats causes persistent behavioral alterations. Neurotoxicol Teratol 2002;24:733-41.
- Levitt P. Structural and functional maturation of the developing primate brain. J Pediatr 2003:143:S35-45
- Levitt P, Campbell DB. The genetic and neurobiologic compass points toward common
- signaling dysfunctions in autism spectrum disorders. J Clin Invest 2009;119:747–54. Lewine JD, Andrews R, Chez M, Patil AA, Devinsky O, Smith M, et al. Magnetoencephalographic patterns of epileptiform activity in children with regressive autism spectrum disorders. Pediatrics 1999;104:405–18.
- Li J, Nguyen L, Gleason C, Lotspeich L, Spiker D, Risch N, et al. Lack of evidence for an association between WNT2 and RELN polymorphisms and autism. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 2004;126B:51-7.
- Li N, Lee B, Liu RJ, Banasr M, Dwyer JM, Iwata M, et al. mTOR-dependent synapse formation underlies the rapid antidepressant effects of NMDA antagonists. Science 2010;329:959-64.
- Liu J, Koscielska KA, Cao Z, Hulsizer S, Grace N, Mitchell G, et al. Signaling defects in iPSC-derived fragile X premutation neurons. Hum Mol Genet 2012;21:3795-805.
- Lizardi PS, O'Rourke MK, Morris RJ. The effects of organophosphate pesticide exposure on Hispanic children's cognitive and behavioral functioning. J Pediatr Psychol 2008;33:91-101.
- Lohmann C. Calcium signaling and the development of specific neuronal connections. Prog Brain Res 2009;175:443-52.
- Lohmann C, Wong RO. Regulation of dendritic growth and plasticity by local and global calcium dynamics. Cell Calcium 2005;37:403-9.
- Lovasi GS, Quinn JW, Rauh VA, Perera FP, Andrews HF, Garfinkel R, et al. Chlorpyrifos exposure and urban residential environment characteristics as determinants of early childhood neurodevelopment. Am J Public Health 2011;101:63-70.
- Lu AT, Cantor RM. Allowing for sex differences increases power in a GWAS of multiplex Autism families. Mol Psychiatry 2012;17:215-22.
- Lu C, Knutson DE, Fisker-Andersen J, Fenske RA. Biological monitoring survey of organophosphorus pesticide exposure among pre-school children in the Seattle metro-politan area. Environ Health Perspect 2001;109:299–303.
- Lugli G, Krueger JM, Davis JM, Persico AM, Keller F, Smalheiser NR. Methodological factors influencing measurement and processing of plasma reelin in humans. BMC Biochem 2003;4:9.
- Mariussen E, Fonnum F. Neurochemical targets and behavioral effects of organohalogen compounds: an update. Crit Rev Toxicol 2006;36:253-89.
- Marks AR, Harley K, Bradman A, Kogut K, Barr DB, Johnson C, et al. Organophosphate pesticide exposure and attention in young Mexican-American children: the CHAMACOS study. Environ Health Perspect 2010;118:1768-74.
- Marshall CR, Noor A, Vincent JB, Lionel AC, Feuk L, Skaug J, et al. Structural variation of chromosomes in autism spectrum disorder. Am J Hum Genet 2008;82:477-88.
- Martinowich K, Hattori D, Wu H, Fouse S, He F, Hu Y, et al. DNA methylation-related chromatin remodeling in activity-dependent BDNF gene regulation. Science 2003:302:890-3.
- McAllister AK. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of dendrite growth. Cereb Cortex 2000;10:963-73.
- McAllister AK, Katz LC, Lo DC. Neurotrophin regulation of cortical dendritic growth requires activity. Neuron 1996;17:1057-64.
- McAllister AK, Katz LC, Lo DC. Opposing roles for endogenous BDNF and NT-3 in regulating cortical dendritic growth. Neuron 1997;18:767–78. McCallister MM, Maguire M, Ramesh A, Aimin Q, Liu S, Khoshbouei H, et al. Prenatal expo-
- sure to benzo(a)pyrene impairs later-life cortical neuronal function. Neurotoxicology 2008:29:846-54.
- McCanlies EC, Fekedulegn D, Mnatsakanova A, Burchfiel CM, Sanderson WT, Charles LE, et al. Parental occupational exposures and Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Autism Dev Disord 2012;42(11):2323-34. (Nov).
- Mendez MA, Horder J, Myers J, Coghlan S, Stokes P, Erritzoe D, et al. The brain GABA-benzodiazepine receptor alpha-5 subtype in autism spectrum disorder: a pilot [(11)C]Ro15-4513 positron emission tomography study. Neuropharmacology in press
- Metzger F. Molecular and cellular control of dendrite maturation during brain development. Curr Mol Pharmacol 2010;3:1-11.
- Missler M. Synaptic cell adhesion goes functional. Trends Neurosci 2003;26:176-8.
- Mitchell MM, Woods R, Chi LH, Schmidt RJ, Pessah IN, Kostyniak PJ, et al. Levels of select PCB and PBDE congeners in human postmortem brain reveal possible environmental involvement in 15q11-q13 duplication autism spectrum disorder. Environ Mol Mutagen 2012;53:589-98.
- Moody WJ, Bosma MM. Ion channel development, spontaneous activity, and activitydependent development in nerve and muscle cells. Physiol Rev 2005;85:883–941. Moreira EG, Yu X, Robinson JF, Griffith W, Hong SW, Beyer RP, et al. Toxicogenomic
- profiling in maternal and fetal rodent brains following gestational exposure to chlorpyrifos. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2010;245:310-25.
- Moser VC, Padilla S. Age- and gender-related differences in the time course of behavioral and biochemical effects produced by oral chlorpyrifos in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1998;149:107-19.
- Moser VC, Chanda SM, Mortensen SR, Padilla S. Age- and gender-related differences in sensitivity to chlorpyrifos in the rat reflect developmental profiles of esterase activities. Toxicol Sci 1998;46:211-22.

14

- Naldini L, Vigna E, Ferracini R, Longati P, Gandino L, Prat M, et al. The tyrosine kinase encoded by the MET proto-oncogene is activated by autophosphorylation. Mol Cell Biol 1991;11:1793–803.
- Nazeer A, Ghaziuddin M. Autism spectrum disorders: clinical features and diagnosis. Pediatr Clin North Am 2012;59:19–25. [ix].
- Nguon K, Baxter MG, Sajdel-Sulkowska EM. Perinatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls differentially affects cerebellar development and motor functions in male and female rat neonates. Cerebellum 2005;4:112–22.
- Nguyen T, Sudhof TC. Binding properties of neuroligin 1 and neurexin 1beta reveal function as heterophilic cell adhesion molecules. J Biol Chem 1997;272:26032–9.
- Okerlund ND, Cheyette BN. Synaptic Wnt signaling—a contributor to major psychiatric disorders? J Neurodevelopmental Disord 2011;3:162–74.
- O'Roak BJ, State MW. Autism genetics: strategies, challenges, and opportunities. Autism Res 2008;1:4-17.
- Page LA, Daly E, Schmitz N, Simmons A, Toal F, Deeley Q, et al. In vivo 1H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy study of amygdala-hippocampal and parietal regions in autism. Am J Psychiatry 2006;163:2189–92.
- Pardo CA, Eberhart CG. The neurobiology of autism. Brain Pathol 2007;17:434-47.
- Park JS, Linderholm L, Charles MJ, Athanasiadou M, Petrik J, Kocan A, et al. Polychlorinated biphenyls and their hydroxylated metabolites (OH-PCBS) in pregnant women from eastern Slovakia. Environ Health Perspect 2007;115:20–7.
- Pasca SP, Nemes B, Vlase L, Gagyi CE, Dronca E, Miu AC, et al. High levels of homocysteine and low serum paraoxonase 1 arylesterase activity in children with autism. Life Sci 2006;78:2244–8.
- Pasca SP, Portmann T, Voineagu I, Yazawa M, Shcheglovitov A, Pasca AM, et al. Using iPSC-derived neurons to uncover cellular phenotypes associated with Timothy syndrome. Nat Med 2011. [advance on-line pub].
- Perera FP, Rauh V, Whyatt RM, Tsai WY, Tang D, Diaz D, et al. Effect of prenatal exposure to airborne polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on neurodevelopment in the first 3 years of life among inner-city children. Environ Health Perspect 2006;114:1287–92.
- Perera FP, Tang D, Wang S, Vishnevetsky J, Zhang B, Diaz D, et al. Prenatal polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) exposure and child behavior at age 6–7 years. Environ Health Perspect 2012;120:921–6.
- Persico AM, Bourgeron T. Searching for ways out of the autism maze: genetic, epigenetic and environmental clues. Trends Neurosci 2006;29:349–58.
- Persico AM, Levitt P, Pimenta AF. Polymorphic GGC repeat differentially regulates human reelin gene expression levels. J Neural Transm 2006;113:1373–82.
- Pessah IN, Lein PJ. Evidence for environmental susceptibility in autism: what we need to know about gene x environment interactions. In: Zimmerman A, editor. Autism: current theories and evidence. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2008. p. 409–28.
- Pessah IN, Hansen LG, Albertson TE, Garner CE, Ta TA, Do Z, et al. Structure–activity relationship for noncoplanar polychlorinated biphenyl congeners toward the ryanodine receptor-Ca²⁺ channel complex type 1 (RyR1). Chem Res Toxicol 2006;19:92-101.
- Pessah IN, Cherednichenko G, Lein PJ. Minding the calcium store: ryanodine receptor activation as a convergent mechanism of PCB toxicity. Pharmacol Ther 2010;125: 260–85.
- Pomeroy-Black MJ, Jortner BS, Ehrich MF. Early effects of neuropathy-inducing organophosphates on in vivo concentrations of three neurotrophins. Neurotox Res 2007;11:85–91.
- Pope CN, Chakraborti TK, Chapman ML, Farrar JD, Arthun D. Comparison of in vivo cholinesterase inhibition in neonatal and adult rats by three organophosphorothioate insecticides. Toxicology 1991;68:51–61.
- Powers BE, Widholm JJ, Lasky RE, Schantz SL. Auditory deficits in rats exposed to an environmental PCB mixture during development. Toxicol Sci 2006;89:415–22.
- Quattrocchi CC, Wannenes F, Persico AM, Ciafre SA, D'Arcangelo G, Farace MG, et al. Reelin is a serine protease of the extracellular matrix. J Biol Chem 2002;277:303–9.
- Rauh VA, Garfinkel R, Perera FP, Andrews HF, Hoepner L, Barr DB, et al. Impact of prenatal chlorpyrifos exposure on neurodevelopment in the first 3 years of life among inner-city children. Pediatrics 2006;118:e1845–59.
- Rauh V, Arunajadai S, Horton M, Perera F, Hoepner L, Barr DB, et al. Seven-year neurodevelopmental scores and prenatal exposure to chlorpyrifos, a common agricultural pesticide. Environ Health Perspect 2011;119:1196–201.
- Rauh VA, Perera FP, Horton MK, Whyatt RM, Bansal R, Hao X, et al. Brain anomalies in children exposed prenatally to a common organophosphate pesticide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:7871–6.
- Riikonen R. Neurotrophic factors in the pathogenesis of Rett syndrome. J Child Neurol 2003;18:693–7.
- Riikonen R, Vanhala R. Levels of cerebrospinal fluid nerve-growth factor differ in infantile autism and Rett syndrome. Dev Med Child Neurol 1999;41:148–52.
 Robinette BL, Harrill JA, Mundy WR, Shafer TJ. In vitro assessment of developmental
- Robinette BL, Harrill JA, Mundy WR, Shafer TJ. In vitro assessment of developmental neurotoxicity: use of microelectrode arrays to measure functional changes in neuronal network ontogeny. Front Neuroeng 2011;4:1.
- Rodier PM, Ingram JL, Tisdale B, Croog VJ. Linking etiologies in humans and animal models: studies of autism. Reprod Toxicol 1997;11:417–22.
- Roegge CS, Wang VC, Powers BE, Klintsova AY, Villareal S, Greenough WT, et al. Motor impairment in rats exposed to PCBs and methylmercury during early development. Toxicol Sci 2004;77:315–24.
- Rohlman DS, Arcury TA, Quandt SA, Lasarev M, Rothlein J, Travers R, et al. Neurobehavioral performance in preschool children from agricultural and non-agricultural communities in Oregon and North Carolina. Neurotoxicology 2005;26:589–98.
- Rubenstein JL, Merzenich MM. Model of autism: increased ratio of excitation/inhibition in key neural systems. Genes Brain Behav 2003;2:255–67.
 Rudie JD, Hernandez LM, Brown JA, Beck-Pancer D, Colich NL, Gorrindo P, et al.
- Rudie JD, Hernandez LM, Brown JA, Beck-Pancer D, Colich NL, Gorrindo P, et al. Autism-associated promoter variant in MET impacts functional and structural brain networks. Neuron 2012;75:904–15.

- Sable HJ, Powers BE, Wang VC, Widholm JJ, Schantz SL. Alterations in DRH and DRL performance in rats developmentally exposed to an environmental PCB mixture. Neurotoxicol Teratol 2006;28:548–56.
- Sadakata T, Furuichi T. Developmentally regulated Ca²⁺-dependent activator protein for secretion 2 (CAPS2) is involved in BDNF secretion and is associated with autism susceptibility. Cerebellum 2009;8:312–22.
- Safe S. Toxicology, structure–function relationship, and human and environmental health impacts of polychlorinated biphenyls: progress and problems. Environ Health Perspect 1993;100:259–68.
- Salinas PC, Zou Y. Wnt signaling in neural circuit assembly. Annu Rev Neurosci 2008;31:339–58.
- Samso M, Feng W, Pessah IN, Allen PD. Coordinated movement of cytoplasmic and transmembrane domains of RyR1 upon gating. PLoS Biol 2009;7:e85.
- Schantz SL, Levin ED, Bowman RE, Heironimus MP, Laughlin NK. Effects of perinatal PCB exposure on discrimination-reversal learning in monkeys. Neurotoxicol Teratol 1989;11:243–50.
- Schantz SL, Seo BW, Wong PW, Pessah IN. Long-term effects of developmental exposure to 2,2',3,5',6-pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB 95) on locomotor activity, spatial learning and memory and brain ryanodine binding. Neurotoxicology 1997;18:457–67.
- Schantz SL, Widholm JJ, Rice DC. Effects of PCB exposure on neuropsychological function in children. Environ Health Perspect 2003;111:357–576.
- Scheiffele P, Fan J, Choih J, Fetter R, Serafini T. Neuroligin expressed in nonneuronal cells triggers presynaptic development in contacting axons. Cell 2000;101:657–69.
- Schmidt RJ, Hansen RL, Hartiala J, Allayee H, Schmidt LC, Tancredi DJ, et al. Prenatal vitamins, one-carbon metabolism gene variants, and risk for autism. Epidemiology 2011;22:476–85.
- Schmidt RJ, Tancredi DJ, Ozonoff S, Hansen RL, Hartiala J, Allayee H, et al. Maternal periconceptional folic acid intake and risk of autism spectrum disorders and developmental delay in the CHARGE (CHildhood Autism Risks from Genetics and Environment) case–control study. Am J Clin Nutr 2012;96:80–9.
- Schuh RA, Lein PJ, Beckles RA, Jett DA. Noncholinesterase mechanisms of chlorpyrifos neurotoxicity: altered phosphorylation of Ca²⁺/cAMP response element binding protein in cultured neurons. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2002;182:176–85.
- Scott-Van Zeeland AA, Abrahams BS, Alvarez-Retuerto AI, Sonnenblick LI, Rudie JD, Ghahremani D, et al. Altered functional connectivity in frontal lobe circuits is associated with variation in the autism risk gene CNTNAP2. Sci Transl Med 2010;2:56ra80.
- Serajee FJ, Zhong H, Mahbubul Huq AH. Association of Reelin gene polymorphisms with autism. Genomics 2006;87:75–83.
- Shelton JF, Hertz-Picciotto I, Pessah IN. Tipping the balance of autism risk: potential mechanisms linking pesticides and autism. Environ Health Perspect 2012;120: 944–51.
- Sheng L, Ding X, Ferguson M, McCallister M, Rhoades R, Maguire M, et al. Prenatal polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon exposure leads to behavioral deficits and downregulation of receptor tyrosine kinase, MET. Toxicol Sci 2010;118:625–34.
- Silverman JL, Turner SM, Barkan CL, Tolu SS, Saxena R, Hung AY, et al. Sociability and motor functions in Shank1 mutant mice. Brain Res 2011;1380:120–37.
- Skaar DA, Shao Y, Haines JL, Stenger JE, Jaworski J, Martin ER, et al. Analysis of the RELN gene as a genetic risk factor for autism. Mol Psychiatry 2005;10:563–71.
- Slotkin TA, Cousins MM, Tate CA, Seidler FJ. Persistent cholinergic presynaptic deficits after neonatal chlorpyrifos exposure. Brain Res 2001;902:229–43.
- Slotkin TA, Seidler FJ, Fumagalli F. Targeting of neurotrophic factors, their receptors, and signaling pathways in the developmental neurotoxicity of organophosphates in vivo and in vitro. Brain Res Bull 2008;76:424–38.
- Slotkin TA, Levin ED, Seidler FJ. Developmental neurotoxicity of parathion: progressive effects on serotonergic systems in adolescence and adulthood. Neurotoxicol Teratol 2009;31:11–7.
- Song JY, Ichtchenko K, Sudhof TC, Brose N. Neuroligin 1 is a postsynaptic cell-adhesion molecule of excitatory synapses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96:1100–5.
- Spitzer NC. Activity-dependent neurotransmitter respecification. Nat Rev Neurosci 2012;13:94-106.
- Splawski I, Timothy KW, Sharpe LM, Decher N, Kumar P, Bloise R, et al. Ca(V)1.2 calcium channel dysfunction causes a multisystem disorder including arrhythmia and autism. Cell 2004;119:19–31.
- Stewart P, Darvill T, Lonky E, Reihman J, Pagano J, Bush B. Assessment of prenatal exposure to PCBs from maternal consumption of Great Lakes fish: an analysis of PCB pattern and concentration. Environ Res 1999;80:S87–96.
- Sudhof TC. Neuroligins and neurexins link synaptic function to cognitive disease. Nature 2008;455:903–11.
- Sweatt JD. Mitogen-activated protein kinases in synaptic plasticity and memory. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2004;14:311–7.
- Szatmari P, Paterson AD, Zwaigenbaum L, Roberts W, Brian J, Liu XQ, et al. Mapping autism risk loci using genetic linkage and chromosomal rearrangements. Nat Genet 2007;39:319–28.
- Ta TA, Pessah IN. Ryanodine receptor type 1 (RyR1) possessing malignant hyperthermia mutation R615C exhibits heightened sensitivity to dysregulation by non-coplanar 2,2',3,5',6-pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB 95). Neurotoxicology 2007;28:770–9.
- Tabuchi K, Blundell J, Etherton MR, Hammer RE, Liu X, Powell CM, et al. A neuroligin-3 mutation implicated in autism increases inhibitory synaptic transmission in mice. Science 2007;318:71–6.
- Takei N, Inamura N, Kawamura M, Namba H, Hara K, Yonezawa K, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor induces mammalian target of rapamycin-dependent local activation of translation machinery and protein synthesis in neuronal dendrites. J Neurosci 2004;24:9760–9.
- Tan GC, Doke TF, Ashburner J, Wood NW, Frackowiak RS. Normal variation in fronto-occipital circuitry and cerebellar structure with an autism-associated polymorphism of CNTNAP2. Neuroimage 2010;53:1030–42.

Author's personal copy

M. Stamou et al. / Neurotoxicology and Teratology 36 (2013) 3-16

- Tochigi M, Kato C, Ohashi J, Koishi S, Kawakubo Y, Yamamoto K, et al. No association between the ryanodine receptor 3 gene and autism in a Japanese population. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2008;62:341–4.
- Trusolino L, Bertotti A, Comoglio PM. MET signalling: principles and functions in development, organ regeneration and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2010;11:834–48.
- Tyndall SJ, Patel SJ, Walikonis RS. Hepatocyte growth factor-induced enhancement of dendritic branching is blocked by inhibitors of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors and calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinases. J Neurosci Res 2007;85:2343–51.
- Vanhala R, Korhonen L, Mikelsaar M, Lindholm D, Riikonen R. Neurotrophic factors in cerebrospinal fluid and serum of patients with Rett syndrome. J Child Neurol 1998;13:429–33.
- Varoqueaux F, Jamain S, Brose N. Neuroligin 2 is exclusively localized to inhibitory synapses. Eur J Cell Biol 2004;83:449–56.
- Varoqueaux F, Aramuni G, Rawson RL, Mohrmann R, Missler M, Gottmann K, et al. Neuroligins determine synapse maturation and function. Neuron 2006;51:741–54. Veenstra-Vanderweele J, Christian SL, Cook Jr EH. Autism as a paradigmatic complex
- genetic disorder. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 2004;5:379–405. Volk HE, Hertz-Picciotto I, Delwiche L, Lurmann F, McConnell R. Residential proximity
- to freeways and autism in the CHARGE study. Environ Health Perspect 2011;119: 873–7. Wayman GA, Impey S, Marks D, Saneyoshi T, Grant WF, Derkach V, et al.
- Activity-dependent dendritic arborization mediated by CaM-kinase I activation and enhanced CREB-dependent transcription of Wnt-2. Neuron 2006;50:897–909.Wayman GA, Lee YS, Tokumitsu H, Silva AJ, Soderling TR. Calmodulin-kinases: modula-
- tors of neuronal development and plasticity. Neuron 2008;59:914–31.
- Wayman GA, Bose DD, Yang D, Lesiak A, Bruun D, Impey S, et al. PCB-95 modulates the calcium-dependent signaling pathway responsible for activity-dependent dendritic growth. Environ Health Perspect 2012a;120:1003–9.
- Wayman GA, Yang D, Bose DD, Lesiak A, Ledoux V, Bruun D, et al. PCB-95 promotes dendritic growth via ryanodine receptor-dependent mechanisms. Environ Health Perspect 2012b;120:997-1002.
- Wehrens XH, Lehnart SE, Marks AR. Intracellular calcium release and cardiac disease. Annu Rev Physiol 2005;67:69–98.
- Wheless JW, Simos PG, Butler IJ. Language dysfunction in epileptic conditions. Semin Pediatr Neurol 2002;9:218–28.
- Whyatt RM, Barr DB. Measurement of organophosphate metabolites in postpartum meconium as a potential biomarker of prenatal exposure: a validation study. Environ Health Perspect 2001;109:417–20.
- Widholm JJ, Clarkson GB, Strupp BJ, Crofton KM, Seegal RF, Schantz SL. Spatial reversal learning in Aroclor 1254-exposed rats: sex-specific deficits in associative ability and inhibitory control. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2001;174:188–98.
- Winneke G. Developmental aspects of environmental neurotoxicology: lessons from lead and polychlorinated biphenyls. J Neurol Sci 2011;308:9-15.
- Wohr M, Roullet FI, Hung AY, Sheng M, Crawley JN. Communication impairments in mice lacking Shank1: reduced levels of ultrasonic vocalizations and scent marking behavior. PLoS One 2011;6:e20631.

- Wong PW, Pessah IN. Ortho-substituted polychlorinated biphenyls alter calcium regulation by a ryanodine receptor-mediated mechanism: structural specificity toward skeletal- and cardiac-type microsomal calcium release channels. Mol Pharmacol 1996;49:740–51.
- Wong PW, Brackney WR, Pessah IN. Ortho-substituted polychlorinated biphenyls alter microsomal calcium transport by direct interaction with ryanodine receptors of mammalian brain. J Biol Chem 1997a;272:15145–53.
- Wong PW, Joy RM, Albertson TE, Schantz SL, Pessah IN. Ortho-substituted 2,2',3,5',6-pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB 95) alters rat hippocampal ryanodine receptors and neuroplasticity in vitro: evidence for altered hippocampal function. Neurotoxicology 1997b;18:443–56.
- Wormley DD, Ramesh A, Hood DB. Environmental contaminant-mixture effects on CNS development, plasticity, and behavior. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2004;197:49–65.
- Yan J, Oliveira G, Coutinho A, Yang C, Feng J, Katz C, et al. Analysis of the neuroligin 3 and 4 genes in autism and other neuropsychiatric patients. Mol Psychiatry 2005;10:329–32.
- Yang D, Howard A, Bruun D, Ajua-Alemanj M, Pickart C, Lein PJ. Chlorpyrifos and chlorpyrifos-oxon inhibit axonal growth by interfering with the morphogenic activity of acetylcholinesterase. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2008;228:32–41.
- Yang D, Kim KH, Phimister A, Bachstetter AD, Ward TR, Stackman RW, et al. Developmental exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls interferes with experience-dependent dendritic plasticity and ryanodine receptor expression in weanling rats. Environ Health Perspect 2009;117:426–35.
- Yang D, Lauridsen H, Buels K, Chi LH, La Du J, Bruun DA, et al. Chlorpyrifos-oxon disrupts zebrafish axonal growth and motor behavior. Toxicol Sci 2011;121:146–59.
- Yuen B, Boncompagni S, Feng W, Yang T, Lopez JR, Matthaei KI, et al. Mice expressing T4826I–RYR1 are viable but exhibit sex- and genotype-dependent susceptibility to malignant hyperthermia and muscle damage. FASEB J 2012;26:1311–22.
- Zaim M, Jambulingam P. Global insecticide use for vector-borne disease control. In: Diseases DoCoNT, editor. 3rd ed. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007.
- Zerbo O, Iosif AM, Walker C, Ozonoff S, Hansen RL, Hertz-Picciotto I. Is maternal influenza or fever during pregnancy associated with autism or developmental delays? Results from the CHARGE (CHildhood Autism Risks from Genetics and Environment) study. J Autism Dev Disord 2012;43(1):25–33.
- Zhang H, Liu X, Zhang C, Mundo E, Macciardi F, Grayson DR, et al. Reelin gene alleles and susceptibility to autism spectrum disorders. Mol Psychiatry 2002;7:1012–7.
- Zhang H, Maximov A, Fu Y, Xu F, Tang TS, Tkatch T, et al. Association of CaV1.3 L-type calcium channels with Shank. J Neurosci 2005;25:1037–49.
- Zhou J, Blundell J, Ogawa S, Kwon CH, Zhang W, Sinton C, et al. Pharmacological inhibition of mTORC1 suppresses anatomical, cellular, and behavioral abnormalities in neural-specific Pten knock-out mice. J Neurosci 2009;29:1773–83.
- Zikopoulos B, Barbas H. Changes in prefrontal axons may disrupt the network in autism. J Neurosci 2010;30:14595–609.
- Zoghbi HY, Bear MF. Synaptic dysfunction in neurodevelopmental disorders associated with autism and intellectual disabilities. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2012:4.